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Business Domains

ASICS SPRIT - the Group’s shared foundation -
is a systemized corporate identity comprising our Philosophy, Vision and Values.

History  Vision

Sportsmanship

Founding Philosophy
Corporate Philosophy 

Values

Vision

Philosophy

Create Quality Lifestyle through Intelligent Sport Technology
Vision

Provide valuable products and services through sport to all our customers 

Fulfill our social responsibility and help improve conditions for communities around the world 

Share profits brought by our sound services with our shareholders, communities and employees 

Maintain a spirit of freedom, fairness and discipline, respectful of all individuals

Corporate Philosophy 

Philosophy

“Anima Sana In Corpore Sano”Founding Philosophy
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Values
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Respect Rules 

Be Courteous 

Be Persistent Be Prepared 

Learn from Failure Work as One Team 
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In this business domain, ASICS manufactures and sells 

products used across a broad range of sports. Athletic Sports 

includes Running, which is our core business, Training, and 

Core Performance Sports, such as tennis, rugby and volley-

ball, etc.

We are leveraging our expertise in sports technologies to 

provide a range of products and services that help 

maintain and enhance health and make life safer and more 

comfortable. 

 Examples include casual leather shoes and safety 

shoes for workers that incorporate technology from our 

sport products. We have also developed nursing care 

facilities called Tryus, which provide unique ASICS 

functional exercise programs for the elderly.

We are transferring the designs and styles of our sports 

products to everyday fashion products. Sports Lifestyle 

includes the Onitsuka Tiger and ASICS Tiger brands. 

Onitsuka Tiger is a sport fashion brand, and ASICS Tiger 

is a sport lifestyle brand.

Health / Comfort

Sports Lifestyle

Athletic Sports  
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History of ASICS

From the earliest days of the Company, we have consistently released 

innovative technologies, products and services designed to create 

quality lifestyle and help people realize their full potential.

 We have worked to improve the performance of ASICS-

branded sporting goods, while also drawing on the designs and styles 

of those sports products to create two other brands, Onitsuka Tiger 

and ASICS Tiger.

Onitsuka Tiger was used 
to market sports shoes 
until the three-way 
merger in 1977. The 
Onitsuka Tiger brand 
was resurrected in 2002 
as a sports luxury brand 
influenced by European 
fashion.

The ASICS Tiger brand, which was used on our popular footwear from the 
1980s until around 1990, was relaunched in 2015.
The new ASICS Tiger 
shoes retain the classic 
shape of their predeces-
sors but use materials 
and colors in new ways 
to create designs 
inspired by U.S. street 
wear.

The ASICS Institute of Sport 
Science plays a key role in the 
development of ASICS 
technologies, products and 
services. With a focus on 
human-centric science, the 
institute conducts research 
into materials and structures 
by analyzing human biomechanical characteristics. Research activities also 
extend to the evaluation of production technology, products and materials, 
giving the institute insights into research from different perspectives.

“Create Quality Lifestyle”
What makes ASICS different?

Onitsuka Tiger ASICS Tiger
High-quality product development based 

on human-centric science

ASICS has contributed to quality lifestyle for  people around the world with 
          countless innovative products, culminating  in the creation of “Intelligent Sport Technology”.

Since its foundation, ASICS has been dedicated to developing highly functional products.
Products that we developed to support athletes striving for optimal performance also became popular with 
consumers overseas.

ASICS continued to improve the quality of its products using 
advanced functional design technologies, aiming to give every 
customer the best merchandise for their individual needs.

1949-1977 1977-2000 2000-
ASICS used the latest biomechanics 
research and actively adopted new 
materials, driving significant improve-
ments in the function of its products.

Onitsuka Co., Ltd., GTO 
Co., Ltd., and Jelenk Co., 

Ltd. merged to form 
ASICS Corporation

19771949
Onitsuka Co., Ltd.

founded

Made from a combination of materials with varying 
degrees of elasticity to efficiently strengthen the 
deep muscles of the body, the INNER MUSCLE 
SERIES was based on technology designed to 
create a balanced posture. Research carried out by 
the ASICS Institute of Sport Science was integral to 
the development of the product.

Product development

INNER MUSCLE SERIES
under gear released

2006

This research and development facility was founded to lead the creation of 
high-performance products.

Product development

ASICS Institute of Sport Science established
1985

Freaks α was the first jogging shoe to 
incorporate αGEL, a new shock-absorbing 
material designed to protect athletes’ feet. 
GEL technology is now one of ASICS’ most 
recognized footwear materials.

ASICS Tiger

Freaks α jogging shoes released
1986

Marathon shoes at the time gave everyone blisters – it was something athletes 
expected. The blisters were caused by heat generated from shock and friction between 
the foot and the ground, so 
Onitsuka took inspiration from 
air-cooled motorbike engines, 
incorporating a vent system to 
circulate air within the shoe. This 
succeeded in keeping blisters to 
a minimum.

Onitsuka Tiger

MAGIC RUNNER marathon shoes released
1960

At the time, track and field events took place 
on dirt tracks, so athletes had to adapt to 
different track conditions caused by changing 
weather. RUNSPARK DS-SP came 
with three sets of pins with different 
lengths, allowing athletes to choose 
the best pins for their event and the 
prevailing track conditions.

Onitsuka Tiger

RUNSPARK DS-SP track and 
field shoes released

1966

The first sports shoes made by Onitsuka Co., 
Ltd. were basketball shoes. At the time, they 
considered to be the most difficult sports 
shoes to manufacture, so it was ASICS 
founder Kihachiro Onitsuka’s idea that if he 
could overcome a high hurdle at the start, 
other hurdles would not be as great a 
challenge later on.

Onitsuka Tiger

First basketball shoes 
released

1950

Until this point, wrestling shoes were made of 
leather. ASICS started using lightweight nylon 
uppers, driving dramatic growth in wrestling 
shoe sales in the US.

Onitsuka Tiger

Wrestling shoes
1955

ASICS STORE TOKYO, our own 
retail store opened in Ginza, 
Tokyo, launched a new service to 
help customers choose the best 
running shoes for their individual 
running style.

Product development

ASICS STORE TOKYO opens
2007

CAE Design
ASICS was one of the first companies in the 
industry to upgrade its shoe design process 
by introducing computers. We now use 
computer simulation to create footwear, 
apparel and equipment for all sports.

Product development1987
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Financial Highlights
ASICS Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries

(Millions of yen)
Net Sales by Product

(Millions of yen)
Net Sales by Reportable Segment

Sports shoes
346,080
(80.7%)

Sports wear
61,606 (14.4%)

Sports equipment
20,808 (4.9%)

(Millions of yen)
Net Sales

’11/3 ’12/3 ’13/3 ’14/3

235,349

247,793

260,199

’14/12

329,465

354,052

(Millions of yen, %)
Operating Income / Operating Income Ratio

’11/3 ’12/3 ’13/3 ’14/3

21,574

19,629

18,663

’14/12
26,516

30,467

’11/3 ’12/3 ’13/3 ’14/3

11,046

12,618

13,773

’14/12

16,108

22,286

(Millions of yen, %)

Total Assets / Total Net Assets /
Shareholders’ Equity Ratio

’11/3 ’12/3 ’13/3 ’14/3 ’14/12

ROE / ROA

’11/3 ’12/3 ’13/3 ’14/3 ’14/12

(Yen)
Net Income per Share

’11/3 ’12/3 ’13/3 ’14/3

58.26

66.55

72.65

’14/12

84.96

117.40

(Yen)
Cash Dividends per Share

’11/3 ’12/3 ’13/3 ’14/3

10.00

12.00

12.00

’14/12

17.00

23.50

200,790
106,369

212,344

244,725

317,528

355,837

4.7
5.1 5.3

4.9

6.39.2

7.9
7.2

8.0
8.6

49.6 50.8
53.1

49.9

56.5

115,315

138,078

159,567

201,941

Total Assets Total Net Assets Shareholders’ Equity Ratio

Operating Income Operating Income Ratio

(Millions of yen, %)
Net Income / Net Income Ratio

Net Income Net Income Ratio

11.1

12.2
11.6 11.2

12.4

5.7 6.1 6.0 5.7
6.6

(%)

ROAROE

East Asia
41,946 [65]

Oceania/
SouthEast and 
South Asia
22,472 [21]

Other business
11,176 [6]

Japan
122,785 [22,139]

Americas
136,104 [0]

EMEA
116,023 [6]

’15/12

428,496

’15/12

27,449

’15/12

10,238
10,238

2.4

6.4

’15/12 ’15/12 ’15/12

53.93

343,468

57.8

199,883

5.1

2.9

’15/12

23.50

(Millions of yen)

2011/3 2012/3 2013/3 2014/3 2014/12 2015/12

For the year:

 Net sales ¥ 235,349 ¥ 247,793 ¥ 260,199 ¥ 329,465 ¥ 354,052 ¥ 428,496

  Sports shoes 175,057 182,807 192,729 251,827 282,790 346,080

  Sportswear 43,685 46,838 49,460 57,198 54,215 61,606

  Sports equipment 16,606 18,148 18,010 20,438 17,046 20,808

 Cost of sales 132,226 140,244 146,361 185,097 198,864 246,342

 Gross profit 103,123 107,549 113,838 144,368 155,188 182,154

 Selling, general and administrative expenses 81,549 87,920 95,175 117,852 124,721 154,705

 Operating income 21,574 19,629 18,663 26,516 30,467 27,449

 Income before income taxes and minority interests 18,496 20,650 20,803 27,694 34,183 17,269

 Net income 11,046 12,618 13,773 16,108 22,286 10,238

 Net cash provided by operating activities 9,553 10,240 14,296 6,393 10,720 18,301 

 Net cash used in investing activities (25,151) (3,563) (8,056) (13,735) (9,845) (8,707)

 Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 10,549 (3,842) (2,956) 27,647 (4,848) (12,765)

At year-end:

 Total net assets ¥ 106,369 ¥ 115,315 ¥ 138,078 ¥ 159,567 ¥ 201,941 ¥ 199,883

 Total assets 200,790 212,344 244,725 317,528 355,837 343,468

 Number of employees 5,604 5,906 5,937 6,585 7,484 7,263 

Per share of common stock (Yen):

 Net income ¥ 58.26 ¥ 66.55 ¥ 72.65 ¥ 84.96 ¥ 117.40 ¥ 53.93

 Cash dividends 10.00 12.00 12.00 17.00 23.50 23.50 

 Total net assets 524.91 569.39 685.10 834.68 1,058.94 1,045.02

Ratios (%):

 Gross profit ratio 43.8 43.4 43.8 43.8 43.8 42.5 

 Operating income ratio 9.2 7.9 7.2 8.0 8.6 6.4 

 Net income ratio 4.7 5.1 5.3 4.9 6.3 2.4 

 Return on assets (ROA) 5.7 6.1 6.0 5.7 6.6 2.9

 Return on equity (ROE) 11.1 12.2 11.6 11.2 12.4 5.1

 Shareholders’ equity ratio 49.6 50.8 53.1 49.9 56.5 57.8

Notes: 1.  All the figures have been rounded off to the nearest million yen.
 2.The fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 was a transitional period due to a change in fiscal year-end. The period included nine months of results for the 

Company and domestic consolidated subsidiaries with March fiscal year-ends and 12 months of results for overseas consolidated subsidiaries, which have 
December fiscal year-ends. 

Note: Net Sales by Reportable Segment figures 
 include the intersegment sales. 
 The intersegment amount is indicated in [  ].  
  A dash indicates there were 
 no intersegment sales.
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The fiscal year ended December 2015 was the final year of our Five-Year Strategic Plan, 

ASICS Growth Plan (AGP) 2015. In the plan’s last year, we reported net sales of ¥428.4 

billion, beating our target of ¥400 billion. During the fiscal year under review, sales were firm 

in the Americas and EMEA, expanded in Asia and Oceania. Operating income of ¥27.4 billion 

fell short of our ¥40 billion final-year target, reflecting higher procurement costs in Europe, 

Japan and Brazil in the Americas due to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, as well as an 

increase in strategic costs related to the opening of our own retail stores. 

 However, we continued to restructure our business to improve profitability. We now 

need to make sure the impact of those reforms feed through to the bottom line.

We have launched a new Five-Year Strategic Plan, ASICS Growth Plan (AGP) 2020. Under 

the new plan, we plan to accelerate global expansion while continuing to push forward the 

basic policy of AGP2015 – ensure the whole Group puts priority on the customer. As needs 

become more diverse, we aim to create closer links with customers through our own retail 

and eCommerce channels in order to expand our consumer base.

Raising our presence
in the global market
and working to secure
the trust of
all stakeholders

President and CEO,
Representative Director

Motoi Oyama

 We have also positioned Training as one of the strategic categories in AGP2020. We 

plan to grow the Training category into an important source of earnings during the course of 

the plan. Interest in healthy living is growing worldwide and training is an essential part of a 

healthy lifestyle. Also, more people – particularly younger consumers and women – are 

choosing sportswear as everyday clothes. We therefore see significant room for growth in the 

Training category. We plan to offer a unique ASICS take on products and services for the 

training market by targeting diverse needs more accurately and leveraging the technologies 

and brand power built up in our mainstay Running category.

The U.S. is the world’s largest sports market and is still our top priority. Global sports trends 

tend to start in the U.S., so we need to achieve success there first if we want to do well world-

wide. The number of female runners has risen sharply in the U.S. in recent years. At the 

same, runners are shifting their focus from achieving the best times in full marathons and 

other events to a more fun-based social approach built around friendships.

 We need to enhance the fashion appeal of ASICS products to expand our female 

customer base. We are creating product development teams to achieve that goal and we 

have high hopes for new products currently in the pipeline.

We have stepped up restructuring in our domestic operations. In October 2015, we 

outsourced domestic logistics operations to a third-party provider and created a more 

strategic and efficient logistics setup. And in January 2016 we merged three domestic sales 

companies to strengthen business management, boost efficiency and speed up 

decision-making. We are now turning our focus to growing sales by leveraging our newly 

streamlined operating framework. 

 Looking further ahead, we expect interest in sport in Japan to reach new heights in the 

lead up to 2020. We will also actively work to create safe and secure environments where 

ordinary people can enjoy sport and training.

Over the last few years, our management framework has become much more global. We have 

hired more non-Japanese managers and employees with extensive experience in the global 

sports market, and the CEOs of our local subsidiaries in the U.S. and EMEA have concurrent 

appointments as executive officers at our global headquarters. This ensures strategy 

implementation is in line with instruction from headquarters. We have also launched the Center 

of Excellence (CoE) initiative, which is designed to strengthen our global business through the 

appointment of top talent, regardless of nationality or location, to lead and manage global 

categories from the most influential regional markets based on product category. These 

leaders will implement growth strategies for each category using their close positioning to key 

consumer groups.

In November 2015, we launched our most groundbreaking running shoes yet in markets 

worldwide. Called MetaRun, the innovative shoes incorporate four patents and five new 

technologies. The shoes embody our desire to remain one of the world’s leading companies in 

the running market. The development of MetaRun has lifted our running shoes to a new level, 

giving us a clear insight into how we can improve comfort for runners even further. 

 Separately, we have upgraded our domestic shoe production sites to create a 

manufacturing framework better suited to supplying high value-added products. We aim to 

increase customer satisfaction by enhancing our “Made in Japan” manufacturing approach, 

working with the ASICS Institute of Sport Science to develop groundbreaking technologies and 

improve productivity. 

 We are also working on introducing IoT (Internet of Things) technologies to create 

innovative new products and services that help raise our presence worldwide. Our goal is to 

deliver sustained growth while also building a corporate group that is trusted and respected by 

all stakeholders.

We appreciate and look forward to your continued understanding and support.

Main themes of new Five-Year Strategic Plan: 
develop our DTC model further and expand our consumer base

AGP2015 net sales target of ¥400 billion achieved

Building an organization worthy of a global company

Creating differentiated innovations to support sustained growth

March 2016

Motoi Oyama
President and CEO, Representative Director 

A Message from the President A Message from the President

Lifting profitability in Japan by streamlining operations

Direct to
Consumer

AGP2015 was completed in the fiscal 

year ended December 2015. By 

effectively implementing our strategies, 

we achieved the plan’s final-year net 

sales target, but operating income and 

ROE fell short of our goals. Sales in the 

Running category expanded and sales 

in the DTC*2 retail channel grew 

worldwide. 

 Amid rapid changes in the 

operating environment, we aim to 

deliver sustained growth under our new 

plan, ASICS Growth Plan 2020, by 

making the Group even more 

responsive to changes in the market.

Review of ASICS Growth Plan (AGP) 2015

*1: Compound annual growth rate over five years: Fiscal year ended March 2011 to fiscal year ended December 2015. 
*2: Direct to Consumer: The collective term for Own Retail and owned eCommerce.

Financial targets (fiscal year ended December 2015) 

Key Outcomes of AGP2015

Double-digit
growth

CAGR*1

13%

DTC*2

share of net sales

19%

Running net sales
CAGR*1Target achieved

Overseas net salesBy ChannelBy CategoryNet sales

ROEOperating MarginNet sales

or more
¥400billion ％10

or more or more
%15

¥428.4
billion

Stepping up marketing to female runners in the U.S. 
– the world’s most important sports market
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The fiscal year ended December 2015 was the final year of our Five-Year Strategic Plan, 

ASICS Growth Plan (AGP) 2015. In the plan’s last year, we reported net sales of ¥428.4 

billion, beating our target of ¥400 billion. During the fiscal year under review, sales were firm 

in the Americas and EMEA, expanded in Asia and Oceania. Operating income of ¥27.4 billion 

fell short of our ¥40 billion final-year target, reflecting higher procurement costs in Europe, 

Japan and Brazil in the Americas due to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, as well as an 

increase in strategic costs related to the opening of our own retail stores. 

 However, we continued to restructure our business to improve profitability. We now 

need to make sure the impact of those reforms feed through to the bottom line.

We have launched a new Five-Year Strategic Plan, ASICS Growth Plan (AGP) 2020. Under 

the new plan, we plan to accelerate global expansion while continuing to push forward the 

basic policy of AGP2015 – ensure the whole Group puts priority on the customer. As needs 

become more diverse, we aim to create closer links with customers through our own retail 

and eCommerce channels in order to expand our consumer base.

Raising our presence
in the global market
and working to secure
the trust of
all stakeholders

President and CEO,
Representative Director

Motoi Oyama

 We have also positioned Training as one of the strategic categories in AGP2020. We 

plan to grow the Training category into an important source of earnings during the course of 

the plan. Interest in healthy living is growing worldwide and training is an essential part of a 

healthy lifestyle. Also, more people – particularly younger consumers and women – are 

choosing sportswear as everyday clothes. We therefore see significant room for growth in the 

Training category. We plan to offer a unique ASICS take on products and services for the 

training market by targeting diverse needs more accurately and leveraging the technologies 

and brand power built up in our mainstay Running category.

The U.S. is the world’s largest sports market and is still our top priority. Global sports trends 

tend to start in the U.S., so we need to achieve success there first if we want to do well world-

wide. The number of female runners has risen sharply in the U.S. in recent years. At the 

same, runners are shifting their focus from achieving the best times in full marathons and 

other events to a more fun-based social approach built around friendships.

 We need to enhance the fashion appeal of ASICS products to expand our female 

customer base. We are creating product development teams to achieve that goal and we 

have high hopes for new products currently in the pipeline.

We have stepped up restructuring in our domestic operations. In October 2015, we 

outsourced domestic logistics operations to a third-party provider and created a more 

strategic and efficient logistics setup. And in January 2016 we merged three domestic sales 

companies to strengthen business management, boost efficiency and speed up 

decision-making. We are now turning our focus to growing sales by leveraging our newly 

streamlined operating framework. 

 Looking further ahead, we expect interest in sport in Japan to reach new heights in the 

lead up to 2020. We will also actively work to create safe and secure environments where 

ordinary people can enjoy sport and training.

Over the last few years, our management framework has become much more global. We have 

hired more non-Japanese managers and employees with extensive experience in the global 

sports market, and the CEOs of our local subsidiaries in the U.S. and EMEA have concurrent 

appointments as executive officers at our global headquarters. This ensures strategy 

implementation is in line with instruction from headquarters. We have also launched the Center 

of Excellence (CoE) initiative, which is designed to strengthen our global business through the 

appointment of top talent, regardless of nationality or location, to lead and manage global 

categories from the most influential regional markets based on product category. These 

leaders will implement growth strategies for each category using their close positioning to key 

consumer groups.

In November 2015, we launched our most groundbreaking running shoes yet in markets 

worldwide. Called MetaRun, the innovative shoes incorporate four patents and five new 

technologies. The shoes embody our desire to remain one of the world’s leading companies in 

the running market. The development of MetaRun has lifted our running shoes to a new level, 

giving us a clear insight into how we can improve comfort for runners even further. 

 Separately, we have upgraded our domestic shoe production sites to create a 

manufacturing framework better suited to supplying high value-added products. We aim to 

increase customer satisfaction by enhancing our “Made in Japan” manufacturing approach, 

working with the ASICS Institute of Sport Science to develop groundbreaking technologies and 

improve productivity. 

 We are also working on introducing IoT (Internet of Things) technologies to create 

innovative new products and services that help raise our presence worldwide. Our goal is to 

deliver sustained growth while also building a corporate group that is trusted and respected by 

all stakeholders.

We appreciate and look forward to your continued understanding and support.

Main themes of new Five-Year Strategic Plan: 
develop our DTC model further and expand our consumer base

AGP2015 net sales target of ¥400 billion achieved

Building an organization worthy of a global company

Creating differentiated innovations to support sustained growth

March 2016

Motoi Oyama
President and CEO, Representative Director 

A Message from the President A Message from the President

Lifting profitability in Japan by streamlining operations

Direct to
Consumer

AGP2015 was completed in the fiscal 

year ended December 2015. By 

effectively implementing our strategies, 

we achieved the plan’s final-year net 

sales target, but operating income and 

ROE fell short of our goals. Sales in the 

Running category expanded and sales 

in the DTC*2 retail channel grew 

worldwide. 

 Amid rapid changes in the 

operating environment, we aim to 

deliver sustained growth under our new 

plan, ASICS Growth Plan 2020, by 

making the Group even more 

responsive to changes in the market.

Review of ASICS Growth Plan (AGP) 2015

*1: Compound annual growth rate over five years: Fiscal year ended March 2011 to fiscal year ended December 2015. 
*2: Direct to Consumer: The collective term for Own Retail and owned eCommerce.

Financial targets (fiscal year ended December 2015) 

Key Outcomes of AGP2015

Double-digit
growth

CAGR*1

13%

DTC*2

share of net sales

19%

Running net sales
CAGR*1Target achieved

Overseas net salesBy ChannelBy CategoryNet sales

ROEOperating MarginNet sales

or more
¥400billion ％10

or more or more
%15

¥428.4
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Stepping up marketing to female runners in the U.S. 
– the world’s most important sports market
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ASICS’ global
operating framework

(Seoul, South Korea)
ASICS Korea Corporation

Sales company in Korea

(Kobe, Japan)
Global headquarters

(Sydney, Australia)
ASICS Oceania Pty. Ltd.

Sales company in Australia

(Tokyo, Japan)
ASICS Japan Corporation

Local management subsidiary
for Japan

(Irvine, U.S.)
ASICS America Corporation

Regional management subsidiary
for the Americas

One of the goals of AGP2015, our previous Five-Year 

Strategic Plan, was to reinforce the Group’s operating 

base. During the course of that plan, we worked to 

create a global operating framework. 

 Also, starting in 2014, we began repositioning 

head office functions in optimal locations around the world. 

 Those functions, called Centers of Excellence 

(CoE*), are sited in the most influential regional markets 

based on product category and have powerful product 

development and marketing capabilities. By locating 

those functions close to key markets and hiring talented 

managers regardless of nationality, we can rapidly 

develop and implement optimal strategies. Under this 

system, the head office in Japan is responsible for 

managing CoEs worldwide.

Core Strategy

We have formulated a new Five-Year Strategic Plan called 

ASICS Growth Plan (AGP) 2020, which runs through to the end 

of 2020. Under the plan, we will create closer links with consum-

ers and reflect their needs in our products and services more 

rapidly. This will help us develop truly innovative products and 

services, supporting sustained growth.

Vision

Financial Targets

Create Quality Lifestyle through 
 Intelligent Sport Technology

(January 1, 2016 – December 31, 2020)

ASICS Growth Plan (AGP)
2020

New Five-Year Strategic Plan

Net Sales Operating
Income Ratio ROE

billion¥750 ％10
or moreor more or more

%15

*DTC is the collective term for Own Retail and owned eCommerce.

Shift to DTC* mindset

Create differentiated innovation

Expand our consumer base

Pursue operational excellence

Reform our development and production systems, and support the 
development of a sustainable society and environment

Transform outdated business practices to data-driven decision-making 
processes to drive improved profitability and sustainable growth

Become the brand of choice, not only in sports, but also in our consum-
ers’ daily lives

Develop a deeper understanding of and expand our business in new 
consumer segments, such as women, youth and emerging markets

Communicate a consistent brand

Develop people and team

Develop both individual and team 
capabilities to deliver values that 
exceed consumer expectations

Narrate a consistent brand to our 
consumers worldwide, and deepen 
an emotional connection

Create innovative products, services and processes 
that can provide exceptional changes in our consumers’ 
lifestyles and experiences

Change all processes from product planning to sales 
into a consumer-centric, DTC business model, in which 
we can directly communicate with our consumers

(Hoofddorp, the Netherlands)
ASICS Europe B.V.

Regional management subsidiary
for EMEA

(Shanghai, China)
ASICS China Trading Co., Ltd.

Regional management subsidiary
for greater China

(Singapore)
ASICS Asia Pte. Ltd.

Regional management subsidiary
for South and Southeast Asia

We are pushing ahead with efforts to create a global operating framework to support our goal of transforming ASICS into a global sports brand. 

By creating a seamless operating framework worldwide, we aim to achieve the goals in our new Five-Year Strategic Plan, ASICS Growth Plan (AGP) 2020, 

and deliver sustained growth.

Building a Global Sports Brand

* Properly put headquarters function of each category on main 
market, and plan strategy and execute prompt action.

SCM, Sales

Oceania/
SouthEast and

South Asia

EMEA

Americas

Japan

Head-
quarters

East Asia

Marketing,
Planning,

Design

Development,
Production Back Office

ERP CoE*

Footwear,
Apparel

CoE*

Lifestyle
CoE*

Running,
Training

CoE*

Special Feature
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News

Revolutionary carbon reinforced adaptive 
stability system

AdaptTruss�

The ASICS MetaRun running shoes were 

born from a simple mission – create the 

best running shoes ever. Led by the ASICS 

Institute of Sport Science, our development 

team worked for three years to create 

running shoes packed with innovative 

ideas. Incorporating five new technologies, 

MetaRun maximizes functionality in four 

areas that are key to comfortable long-

distance running: weight, stability, fit and 

cushioning. 

     MetaRun marks a new benchmark for 

ASICS running shoes by improving perfor-

mance in all those areas. The shoes 

incorporate our lightest-ever midsole mate-

rial and offer increased levels of stability to 

ensure optimum stride timing. They have 

also been designed to ensure a superb fit 

and improve cushioning against running 

impact. Together, our innovations ensure 

the best possible performance for runners 

from start to finish – in short, MetaRun is the 

pinnacle of ASICS running shoes.

Packed with Five new groundbreaking technologies

1 MetaRun – The best long-distance running 
shoes in ASICS’ history

X-GEL
2

Hybrid high-tech gel

1

Dual density midsole that adjusts smoothly to 
dynamic motion

Sloped DUOMAX

ASICS’ lightest, most durable midsole, with 
organic fibers for high-level cushioning 

FlyteFoam

Featuring a glove-like, one-layer Jacquard 
Mesh and MetaClutch exoskeleton external 
heel counter with built-in memory foam 

Optimized Upper

3

4

5

ASICS is working to reinforce its position in sports categories other than 

running where it has the potential to achieve a top three global market share 

or a top two regional market share.

 One of those sports is rugby. The rugby world championship was 

held in 2015, attracting attention in Japan and around the world. Japan is 

due to host the next tournament in 2019, which is likely to further boost the 

popularity of the sport worldwide.

 ASICS also supports two of the world’s top national rugby teams – 

Australia and South Africa – opening the way to new business opportunities 

such as sales of replica jerseys for both teams.

ASICS has acquired FitnessKeeper, Inc., making the 

company a subsidiary. Established in 2008, FitnessKeeper 

is the operator of fitness tracking app Runkeeper, an 

application that can track and record fitness activities such 

as running, walking and cycling through GPS on smart-

phone devices. Runkeeper has over 33 million registered 

users worldwide, mainly in the U.S. It provides users with 

data about running distance and pace during exercise, as 

well as functions to record, manage and analyze activities, 

helping users to visualize and achieve their fitness goals. 

The acquisition will integrate Runkeeper’s globally recog-

nized brand and worldwide user base with ASICS’ technolo-

gies and manufacturing skills, creating synergies that 

support continued growth in corporate value.

Rugby player Michael Leitch has signed an advisory 
contract with ASICS

Australia
replica

rugby jersey

South Africa
replica

rugby jersey

2

3 FitnessKeeper, Inc. 
– operator of fitness tracking app Runkeeper – 
now an ASICS subsidiary

Raising our presence in rugby and 
supplying replica rugby jerseys

Newly
Patented

Newly
Patented

*Patents: FlyteFoam: JP/ AdaptTruss: JP, DE, US
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Corporate Social Responsibility

At ASICS, we want to make sports gear that not only performs 

better for athletes, but is also better for society and the environ-

ment. For us, that means understanding and managing the 

impacts of our products throughout their entire life cycle, from the 

sourcing of materials all the way to their eventual disposal.

We see it as our responsibility to work closely with factories in 

our supply chain to  make sure they provide decent working 

conditions. We will only work with suppliers who share our 

commitment to upholding safe and fair labor practices and 

protecting human rights.

CREATING PRODUCTS 
AND SERVICES2 INVESTING IN PEOPLE 

AND COMMUNITIES RISK MANAGEMENT41 PARTNERING WITH
SUPPLIERS

The idea behind our new partnership with community charity Goodwill and Give Back 

Box® is to help our consumers give packaging a second life and give back to society at 

the same time. Our online customers in the US can send clothes, shoes and other 

unwanted household items free of charge to Goodwill, using the same boxes in which 

they received their ASICS purchases. The charity then sells on these items to raise 

funds for community services, including jobs placement and skills training.

Understanding the social impacts of making our products can be a challenge – 

especially considering the scale and complexity of our supply chain. Life cycle analysis 

(LCA) is a tool to map impacts across the different stages of a product’s life cycle. We 

carried out a social LCA scan of our GEL-KAYANO 21 running shoe in 2015. The results 

showed the areas where we are getting it right, and where we need to do more work. 

We are now using these insights to improve the way we engage with suppliers and 

reduce social risks in our supply chain.

A new partnership is approaching manufacturing impact from a supplier facility perspec-

tive. We are collaborating with My Climate Japan Co. Ltd. and receiving support from the 

Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (METI) to identify the best options for 

reducing CO2, while also improving energy efficiency and energy supply at two supplier 

manufacturing sites located in Cambodia and Vietnam. This is a Joint Crediting 

Mechanism (JCM) project of METI. The outcomes were presented to the suppliers, and 

the most impactful changes actioned. We are using the findings to help other suppliers 

reduce their manufacturing CO2 emissions and improve energy efficiency.

Through sponsorships, charity work and volunteering, we strive to 

make a positive difference in the communities where we live and 

work. Because our people are our most valuable asset, we also 

work hard to create a rewarding working environment that 

nurtures talent and values diversity.

In the U.S., we have joined forces with Girls on the Run, a non-profit organization that 

inspires girls to be healthy, happy and confident through the power of running. As the 

organization’s official sponsor, we are providing access to affordable footwear, 

volunteering opportunities and health and fitness programs for the members of Girls on 

the Run’s 225 councils across the country.

ASICS has established a Risk Management Committee and a Risk Management Team 

in accordance with its Risk Management Policy. The Company regularly identifies, 

analyzes and assesses risks, implements risk mitigation measures and re-analyzes 

risks in order to build a strong business base.

 ASICS faces various risks that could affect its business, operating results, 

financial position and share price, including risks related to global business expansion, 

exchange rate fluctuations, product liability, intellectual property, information security 

and major natural disasters. ASICS identifies priority risks related to business strategy 

and allocates business resources to those risks to prevent crisis. 

 In 2015, ASICS launched a new risk management project and reviewed 

actions to mitigate risks. 

In Japan, we have been applying our knowledge of sports science to improving quality 

of life for the country’s aging population. Our Tryus day-care facilities, a new commer-

cial service by ASICS, includes an activity center designed to improve motor skills in 

elderly people. There are currently five Tryus facilities operational throughout Japan. In 

2015, Tryus received Japan’s Good Design Award, which recognizes design that 

enriches people’s lives.

By supporting the Tag Rugby Association’s Adopt-a-School program, we are helping 

primary school kids in South Africa have fun, get fit and build confidence by learning 

this non-contact sport. In 2015, we sponsored five primary schools, providing sports 

kit and funding coaching sessions for 1,872 disadvantaged children.

GIRLS ON THE RUN

IMPROVING LIFE FOR OLDER PEOPLE

TAG RUGBY IN PRIMARY SCHOOLS

We check that our products are manufactured according to our standards for safe and 

ethical production. We rate our suppliers accordingly on a scale of A (high) to E (below 

standard). The information we gather allows us to work closely with factories, guide 

those under remediation plans and take action where needed.

Building long-term relationships with factories that produce our products means we are 

able to train our suppliers, over time, in order to raise awareness of labor standards and 

industry best practice. In 2015, we carried out training seminars with 105 of our key 

suppliers on subjects ranging from labor rights to health and safety. We believe this 

long-term approach is vital to supply chain sustainability.

Building a sustainable supply chain is not something we can achieve on our own. So as 

well as working closely with our suppliers, we partner with a wide range of 

non-governmental organizations (NGOs), trade unions and other organizations. 

Through our membership of bodies such as the Sustainable Apparel Coalition, we play 

an active role in improving supply chain sustainability throughout our industry. The 

labor organization, ILO Better Work, is an important partner for us in Cambodia, 

Indonesia and Vietnam, where it delivers training for workers and factory managers.

3

We build strong relationships with our stakeholders and engage them in open, 

active dialogue in order to understand the issues that matter most to them and 

act accordingly. As a result, ASICS Corporation has been selected as a 

component company in the Dow 

Jones Sustainability Asia/Pacific 

Index and in the MSCI Global 

Sustainability Indexes in 2015. 

These are globally recognized 

Socially Responsible Investment 

(SRI) Index.

ht tp : / / corp.as ics .com /en /csr

For details about our other CSR and sustainability activities, 
please visit the ASICS website.

ASICS carries out a materiality assessment program by thoroughly examining  stakeholder expectations and requirements regarding sustainability 

issues. This helps us understand opportunities and risks for our operations and products, now and in the future.

The matrix on the right shows the 12 sustainability issues identified by our materiality program, mapped according to their importance to our 

stakeholders and their strategic importance to ASICS.

ASICS contributes to quality lifestyle for shareholders, 
local communities, employees and all the other 
stakeholders that support the Group.

OUR
MATERIALITY

MATRIX

STRATEGIC IMPORTANCE TO ASICS
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Water
efficiency
and water
pollution

Ethical
workplace
standards

Product
safety and

quality

Physical
inactivity and

inclusion

Diversity

Corporate
governance

and
disclosure

Material and
product

traceability

Innovative
and efficient

product
design

Energy
efficiency
and CO2

emissions

Fair
compensation

and
performance

Resource
scarcity

Workplace
health and

safety

ENSURING BEST PRACTICE STANDARDS

LONG-TERM CONTRACTS AND RELATIONSHIPS

INDUSTRY PARTNERSHIPS

HELPING CONSUMERS MAKE A DIFFERENCE

REDUCING SUPPLIER CO2 EMISSIONS

UNDERSTANDING OUR SOCIAL IMPACTS
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Overview
In the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, business was steady in the 
sporting goods industry on the back of a high level of interest in sports 
owing to rising health consciousness, as well as a running boom. 
 Under these conditions, the ASICS Group (“the Group”) contin-
ued its efforts to reinforce and expand its business on a global scale 
based on the current Five-Year Strategic Plan, “ASICS Growth Plan 
(AGP) 2015”. 
 In the running business, the Group strove to expand the business 
further as the core business and to heighten the value of the ASICS 
brand. The Group’s efforts to this end included launching sales of GEL-
KAYANO 22 high-function running shoes that offer superior fit, unveiling 
MetaRun packed with four patents and five new groundbreaking tech-
nologies, and also launching limited edition of that product onto the mar-
ket. The Group also carried out initiatives such as sponsoring marathon 
events held in different parts of the world, including Los Angeles, New 
York, Paris, Stockholm and Tokyo. In addition to the above, the Group 
improved the “MY ASICS” online service for creating training programs 
by making it possible for those using the service to access live coach-
ing for runners by interfacing with Sony Corporation’s headset sports 
device Smart B-Trainer™ as well as the SmartWatch 3 SWR50 and the 
SmartBand Talk SWR30 from Sony Mobile Communications Inc. 
 In the athletic sports business, the Group concentrated on ac-
tivities to expand sales and heighten the value of the ASICS brand. The 
Group strove to expand sales of tennis shoes such as the high-function 
tennis shoes GEL-RESOLUTION 6. As a result of enhanced global mar-
keting activities for tennis, tennis shoes produced by ASICS accounted 
for 25% of the shoes used by the top 100 ranked male tennis players 
in the world, which is the top share (according to research by Sport-
BuzzBusiness.fr, as of May 26th 2015). In addition, the Group supplied 
products to be used by athletes representing their countries (in total, 
20 countries) at the IAAF World Championships in Beijing. Furthermore, 
in addition to supplying jerseys to the Australian national rugby team, 
known by the nickname of Qantas Wallabies, and the South African na-
tional rugby team, known as the Springboks, the Group supplied rugby 
cleats to be used by rugby players representing their countries (in total, 
13 countries). 
 In the sports lifestyle business, the Group strove to heighten the 
value of its brands and expand sales by executing a strategy based on 
the brand concept. For example, the Group carried out a twelve-month 
monthly collaboration plan for the ASICS Tiger brand, which has been 
relaunched as the third brand following ASICS and Onitsuka Tiger. 
 On the sales front, the Group worked on increasing sales through 
expansion of its controlled space. The Group also pushed ahead with 
store openings around the world. For the ASICS brand, the Group 
opened its own retail store in Paris featuring a new concept involving 
a broader merchandise assortment that includes running, training and 
tennis categories and a dedicated retail space exclusively for women, 
and also opened an ASICS brand flagship store in Madrid. Moreover, 
for the Onitsuka Tiger brand, the Group opened its own retail stores in 

Shibuya and Shinsaibashi in Japan. With these new stores, the number 
of ASICS controlled spaces exceeded 1,900 stores worldwide (including 
the HAGLÖFS brand), consisting of 444 own retail stores and other part-
ner stores. Furthermore, the Group expanded selling through ASICS’ 
own E-commerce websites at a shared global IT platform. 
 In the apparel business, the Group strove to execute a consistent 
business strategy for planning, development, production and sales. Ef-
forts to this end included launching a global concept series of running, 
training and tennis apparel for which the unified planning and develop-
ment were carried out on a global basis. 
 In the domestic business, the Group implemented the career 
change support program and engaged in efforts to realize a lean orga-
nization as part of structural reforms designed to build a solid base for 
making profits. 
 In addition, the Group continued to promote diversity under the 
slogan “One Team” –– Stronger through Diversity, aiming that diverse 
employees feel fulfilled in the corporate culture and environment to let 
them perform at peak, and contribute sustainable growth of the busi-
ness and the organization. 
 Moreover, ASICS became a “Tokyo 2020 Gold Partner”, the high-
est domestic tier of sponsors, in the category of sporting goods (sports 
apparel and sports equipment) for the Tokyo 2020 Olympic and Para-
lympic Games. 
 In other activities, the Group focused its efforts on initiatives 
taken to help bring about a healthy and sustainable society for all 
people through sport. As part of a continuous support program for the 
Great Eastern Japan Earthquake, “A Bright Tomorrow Through Sport”, 
the Group supported the “Discover Tomorrow” 1,000-km Relay to 
Tokyo 2015. 
 Being acclaimed for its corporate activities, ASICS was ranked 
19th in Interbrand’s “Japan’s Best Global Brands 2015”, achieving its 
highest brand valuation ever. Furthermore, ASICS was selected for the 
first time as a component company in the Asia/Pacific Index of the Dow 
Jones Sustainability Indices (DJSI), a world’s leading indicator of the so-
cially responsible investment. The DJSI evaluates global corporate sus-
tainability according to three perspectives of economy, environment and 
society, and selects excellent companies. 
 Moreover, ASICS was chosen for the “Health and Productivity 
Stock Selection”, which is jointly selected by the Ministry of Economy, 
Trade and Industry and the Tokyo Stock Exchange, as a company that 
focuses on the health of employees and others from the viewpoint of 
management and undertakes relevant strategic initiatives. 

Performance Analysis
In the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, consolidated net sales were 
¥428,496 million. Domestic net sales were ¥101,226 million, overseas 
sales were ¥327,270 million, gross profit was ¥182,154 million, operating 
income was ¥27,449 million, and net income was ¥10,238 million. 

Segment Information
Business results by reportable segment were as follows. The fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2014 was a transitional period for the change in the 
fiscal year end. Therefore, the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 had 
irregular settlement periods whereby the consolidated period was nine 
months (April 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014) for the Company and those 
consolidated subsidiaries whose fiscal year end was on March 31, and 
twelve months (January 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014) for consolidated 
subsidiaries whose fiscal year end was on December 31. As a result, 
year-on-year ratios are not disclosed for the Japan area. 

(1) Japan area 
Sales were ¥122,785 million and segment income was ¥2,291 million. 

(2) America area 
Sales increased 14.5% (an increase of 0.6% using the previous fiscal 
year’s foreign exchange rate) to ¥136,104 million, mainly due to the effect 
of a weakening Brazilian real against the U.S. dollar on foreign exchange 
rates, despite the steady sales of running shoes and strong sales of 
ASICS Tiger shoes and tennis shoes in North America. Segment income 
decreased 86.3% (a decrease of 87.9% using the previous fiscal year’s 
foreign exchange rate) to ¥1,500 million, mainly due to an increase of 
purchasing costs reflecting the weaker Brazilian real and an increase 
in selling, general and administrative expenses reflecting an increase of 
own retail stores and the recording of allowance for doubtful receivables 
associated with specific accounts. 

(3) Europe area 
Sales increased 10.7% (an increase of 15.7% using the previous fis-
cal year’s foreign exchange rate) to ¥116,023 million, due to the strong 
sales of athletic shoes, particularly running shoes and tennis shoes, and 
ASICS Tiger shoes. Moreover, segment income increased 26.4% (an 
increase of 32.1% using the previous fiscal year’s foreign exchange rate) 
to ¥10,939 million, due to the improvements of the cost of sales ratio. 

(4) Oceania/SouthEast and South Asia area 
Sales increased 20.8% (an increase of 24.2% using the previous fis-
cal year’s foreign exchange rate) to ¥22,472 million, due to the strong 
sales of running shoes in Australia, and the Group’s efforts to expand 
businesses in the SouthEast and South Asian area. Segment income 
increased 11.0% (an increase of 14.9% using the previous fiscal year’s 
foreign exchange rate) to ¥3,572 million. 

(5) East Asia area 
Sales increased 33.2% (an increase of 23.2% using the previous fiscal 
year’s foreign exchange rate) to ¥41,946 million, due to the strong sales 
of running shoes and Onitsuka Tiger shoes at the subsidiary in China, 
in addition to the effect of foreign exchange rates. Moreover, segment 
income increased 99.4% (an increase of 80.0% using the previous fiscal 
year’s foreign exchange rate) to ¥4,643 million, mainly due to the effect 

of significantly increased income at the subsidiary in China. 

(6) Other business 
Sales decreased 5.5% (an increase of 1.2% using the previous fiscal 
year’s foreign exchange rate) to ¥11,176 million, due to the effect of for-
eign exchange rates, despite the steady sales of outdoor shoes and 
outdoor wear under the HAGLÖFS brand. Segment loss was ¥666 mil-
lion mainly due to the impact of an increase of purchasing costs arising 
from the effect of foreign exchange rates.

Financial Condition
As for consolidated financial position as of December 31, 2015, total as-
sets decreased 3.5% from the end of the previous fiscal year to ¥343,468 
million, total liabilities decreased 6.7% from the end of the previous fiscal 
year to ¥143,585 million and net assets decreased 1.0% from the end of 
the previous fiscal year to ¥199,883 million. 

Cash Flows
As for cash flows as of December 31, 2015, cash and cash equivalents 
(hereinafter, “cash”) decreased ¥5,036 million from the end of the previ-
ous fiscal year to ¥46,015 million. 
 The respective cash flow positions and main factors behind the 
changes are as follows. 
 The fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 was a transitional pe-
riod for the change in the fiscal year end. Therefore, the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2014 had irregular settlement periods whereby the con-
solidated period was nine months (April 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014) 
for the Company and those consolidated subsidiaries whose fiscal year 
end was on March 31, and twelve months (January 1, 2014 to December 
31, 2014) for consolidated subsidiaries whose fiscal year end was on 
December 31. As a result, year-on-year ratios are not disclosed. 
 Net cash provided by operating activities was ¥18,301 million. 
Major sources of cash were ¥17,269 million from income before income 
taxes and minority interests and ¥7,819 million from depreciation and 
amortization, while major uses of cash were ¥10,384 million for income 
taxes paid. 
 Net cash used in investing activities was ¥8,707 million. The 
major source of cash was ¥8,805 million from proceeds from with-
drawal of time deposits and ¥4,704 million from proceeds from sales of 
property, plant and equipment, while major uses of cash were ¥9,768 
million for purchases of time deposits, ¥7,631 million for purchases of 
property, plant and equipment, and ¥3,047 million for purchases of 
intangible assets. 
 Net cash used in financing activities was ¥12,765 million. Major 
uses of cash were ¥7,190 million for a net decrease in short-term bank 
loans and ¥4,456 million for cash dividends paid to the shareholders of 
the Company.
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ASICS Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries
December 31, 2015 and 2014

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Millions of yen

Thousands of 
U.S. dollars 

(Note 1)

ASSETS 2015 2014 2015

Current assets:

Cash and deposits (Notes 4 and 16) ...................................................................................... ¥ 52,398  ¥ 54,888  $ 436,650

Short-term investments (Notes 4, 5 and 16) ........................................................................... 4,264 2,821 35,533

Notes and accounts receivable (Note 16):

Trade ................................................................................................................................. 75,372 80,992 628,100

Less allowance for doubtful receivables .............................................................................. (3,358) (3,899) (27,983)

Inventories (Note 6) ............................................................................................................... 99,336 100,412 827,800

Deferred income taxes (Note 14) ........................................................................................... 6,443 5,520 53,692

Other current assets .............................................................................................................. 26,401 24,235 220,008

Total current assets ............................................................................................................ 260,856 264,969 2,173,800

Property plant and equipment:

Land ...................................................................................................................................... 7,349 9,467 61,242

Buildings and structures  ....................................................................................................... 34,061 36,045 283,842

Machinery, equipment and vehicles ....................................................................................... 4,380 5,049 36,500

Tools, furniture and fixtures (Note 7) ..................................................................................... 22,285 21,680 185,708

Leased assets (Note 7) ........................................................................................................... 8,824 7,240 73,533

Construction in progress ....................................................................................................... 1,756 1,735 14,633

Less accumulated depreciation .............................................................................................. (39,466) (39,107) (328,883)

Property, plant and equipment, net (Note 21) .................................................................... 39,189 42,109 326,575

Intangible assets:

Goodwill (Note 21) ................................................................................................................ 4,218 5,166 35,150

Other intangible assets (Note 21) ........................................................................................... 14,858 14,425 123,816

Total intangible assets ........................................................................................................ 19,076 19,591 158,966

Investments and other assets:

Investments in securities:

Unconsolidated subsidiaries  .............................................................................................. 101 101 842

Other (Notes 5 and 16) ...................................................................................................... 11,815 10,433 98,458

Long-term loans receivable .................................................................................................... 148 412 1,233

Assets for retirement benefits (Note 10) ................................................................................ 84 523 700

Deferred income taxes (Note 14) ........................................................................................... 1,016 996 8,467

Other assets (Note 7) ............................................................................................................. 11,571 17,073 96,425

Less allowance for doubtful receivables ................................................................................. (388) (370) (3,233)

Total investments and other assets ........................................................................................ 24,347 29,168 202,892

Total assets (Note 21) ........................................................................................................ ¥ 343,468  ¥ 355,837  $ 2,862,233

Millions of yen

Thousands of 
U.S. dollars 

(Note 1)

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 2015 2014 2015

Current liabilities:

Short-term bank loans (Notes 8 and 16) ................................................................................ ¥ 7,239  ¥ 14,667  $ 60,325

Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 8 and 16) .............................................................. 14,749 1,364 122,908

Notes and accounts payable (Note 16):

Trade ................................................................................................................................. 27,868 27,264 232,233

Construction ...................................................................................................................... 3 2 25

Accrued income taxes (Note 14) ............................................................................................ 2,945 1,915 24,542

Accrued expenses .................................................................................................................. 15,260 15,842 127,167

Allowance for sales returns .................................................................................................... 409 595 3,408

Provision for employees' bonuses .......................................................................................... 285 844 2,375

Asset retirement obligations (Note 9) ..................................................................................... 3 8 25

Deferred income taxes (Note 14) ........................................................................................... 2,799 2,176 23,325

Other current liabilities .......................................................................................................... 11,748 12,671 97,900

Total current liabilities ........................................................................................................ 83,308 77,348 694,233

Long-term liabilities:

Long-term debt (Notes 8 and 16) .......................................................................................... 46,498 58,972 387,483

Liabilities for retirement benefits (Note 10) ............................................................................ 4,775 8,241 39,792

Asset retirement obligations (Note 9) ..................................................................................... 1,020 852 8,500

Deferred income taxes (Note 14) ........................................................................................... 4,889 6,074 40,742

Other long-term liabilities ...................................................................................................... 3,095 2,409 25,791

Total long-term liabilities .................................................................................................... 60,277 76,548 502,308

Net assets:

Shareholders' equity (Note 11):

Common stock:

Authorized shares -790,000,000 shares at December 31, 2015 and 2014

Issued shares        -199,962,991 shares at December 31, 2015 and 2014 ..................... 23,972 23,972 199,767

Capital surplus ................................................................................................................... 17,490 17,490 145,750

Retained earnings (Note 22 (1)) .......................................................................................... 140,455 134,641 1,170,458

Less treasury stock, at cost

(10,143,572 shares at December 31, 2015 and 10,140,795 shares at December 31, 2014) ... (7,667) (7,658) (63,892)

Total shareholders' equity .................................................................................................. 174,250 168,445 1,452,083

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):

Unrealized holding gain on securities (Note 5) .................................................................... 4,387 3,168 36,558

Unrealized deferred gain on hedges (Note 17) ................................................................... 14,499 14,646 120,825

Revaluation reserve for assets of foreign subsidiaries .......................................................... 92 129 767

Translation adjustments ..................................................................................................... 5,229 14,548 43,575

Retirement benefits liability adjustments (Note 10) ............................................................. (93) 74 (775)

Total accumulated other comprehensive income ............................................................ 24,114 32,565 200,950

Stock acquisition rights (Note 11) .......................................................................................... 95 35 792

Minority interests .................................................................................................................. 1,424 896 11,867

Total net assets .............................................................................................................. 199,883 201,941 1,665,692

Total liabilities and net assets ......................................................................................... ¥ 343,468  ¥ 355,837  $ 2,862,233

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ASICS Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and Nine months ended December 31, 2014

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
ASICS Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and Nine months ended December 31, 2014

Consolidated Statement of Income

Millions of yen

Thousands of 
U.S. dollars 

(Note 1)

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Nine months 
ended 

December 
31, 2014

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Net sales (Note 21)  ................................................................................................................. ¥ 428,496  ¥ 354,052  $ 3,570,800

Cost of sales ........................................................................................................................... 246,342 198,864 2,052,850

Gross profit ........................................................................................................................... 182,154 155,188 1,517,950

Selling, general and administrative expenses (Notes 11 and 12) ........................................ 154,705 124,721 1,289,208

Operating income (Note 21) .................................................................................................. 27,449 30,467 228,742

Other income (expenses):

Interest and dividend income ................................................................................................. 745 638 6,208

Interest expense .................................................................................................................... (971) (764) (8,092)

Exchange (loss) gain, net ....................................................................................................... (4,113) 3,678 (34,275)

Gain on sales of investments in securities, net (Note 5) .......................................................... 24 172 200

Loss on sales or disposal of property, plant and equipment and other, net ............................. (135) (79) (1,125)

Loss on devaluation of investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries ......................................... – (41) –

Loss on impairment of property, plant and equipment (Notes 7 and 21) ................................ (153) (172) (1,275)

Business restructuring expenses (Note 13) ............................................................................. (5,000) – (41,667)

Other, net ............................................................................................................................. (577) 284 (4,808)

(10,180) 3,716 (84,834)

Income before income taxes and minority interests ............................................................ 17,269 34,183 143,908

Income taxes (Note 14):

Current ................................................................................................................................. 8,411 12,554 70,092

Deferred ................................................................................................................................ (1,469) (810) (12,242)

6,942 11,744 57,850

Income before minority interests ........................................................................................ 10,327 22,439 86,058

Minority interests .................................................................................................................. 89 153 741

Net income ........................................................................................................................ ¥ 10,238  ¥ 22,286  $ 85,317

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Millions of yen

Thousands of 
U.S. dollars 

(Note 1)

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Nine months 
ended 

December 
31, 2014

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Income before minority interests ......................................................................................... ¥ 10,327  ¥ 22,439  $ 86,058

Other comprehensive income (loss) (Note 18):

Unrealized holding gain on securities  .................................................................................... 1,219 817 10,158

Unrealized deferred (loss) gain on hedges .............................................................................. (147) 16,718 (1,225)

Revaluation reserve for assets of foreign subsidiaries ............................................................. (37) (65) (308)

Translation adjustments ......................................................................................................... (9,372) 5,560 (78,099)

Retirement benefits liability adjustments ................................................................................ (167) 285 (1,392)

Total other comprehensive (loss) income, net ..................................................................... (8,504) 23,315 (70,866)

Comprehensive income ......................................................................................................... ¥ 1,823  ¥ 45,754  $ 15,192

Comprehensive income attributable to:

Shareholders of ASICS Corporation ....................................................................................... ¥ 1,813  ¥ 45,512  $ 15,108

Minority shareholders of consolidated subsidiaries ................................................................. 10 242 84

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ASICS Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and Nine months ended December 31, 2014

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
ASICS Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and Nine months ended December 31, 2014

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Millions of yen

Number of
issued

shares of
common 

stock
Common

stock
Capital 
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury
stock,
at cost

Unrealized
holding

gain 
on securities

Unrealized
deferred

gain (loss)
on hedges

Revaluation
reserve for
assets of
foreign 

subsidiaries
Translation 

adjustments

Retirement
 benefits 
liability

adjustments

Stock
acquisition

 rights
Minority
interests

Total
net assets

Balance at April 1, 2014 ...........199,962,991 ¥23,972 ¥17,490 ¥115,295 ¥(7,652) ¥2,351 ¥  (2,072) ¥194 ¥9,076 ¥(211) ¥14 ¥1,110 ¥159,567
Cumulative effect of change in 

method of accounting ............. – – – 222 – – – – – – – – 222

Balance as adjusted .....................199,962,991 23,972 17,490 115,517 (7,652) 2,351 (2,072) 194 9,076 (211) 14 1,110 159,789

Dividends .................................... – – – (3,227) – – – – – – – – (3,227)
Reversal of revaluation reserve 

for assets of foreign 
subsidiaries .............................. – – – 65 – – – (65) – – – – –

Net income ................................. – – – 22,286 – – – – – – – – 22,286

Purchases of treasury stock ......... – – – – (6) – – – – – – – (6)

Sales of treasury stock ................. – – 0 – 0 – – – – – – – 0

Other changes ............................ – – – – – 817 16,718 – 5,472 285 21 (214) 23,099

Balance at January 1, 2015 ......199,962,991 23,972 17,490 134,641 (7,658) 3,168 14,646 129 14,548 74 35 896 201,941

Dividends .................................... – – – (4,461) – – – – – – – – (4,461)
Reversal of revaluation reserve 

for assets of foreign 
subsidiaries .............................. – – – 37 – – – (37) – – – – –

Net income ................................. – – – 10,238 – – – – – – – – 10,238

Purchases of treasury stock ......... – – – – (9) – – – – – – – (9)

Sales of treasury stock ................. – – 0 – 0 – – – – – – – 0

Other changes ............................ – – – – – 1,219 (147) – (9,319) (167) 60 528 (7,826)

Balance at December 31, 2015 ..199,962,991 ¥23,972 ¥17,490 ¥140,455 ¥(7,667) ¥4,387 ¥14,499 ¥  92 ¥5,229 ¥  (93) ¥95 ¥1,424 ¥199,883

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Common
stock

Capital
surplus

Retained
earnings

Treasury
stock,
at cost

Unrealized
holding
gain on

securities

Unrealized
deferred

gain (loss) 
on hedges

Revaluation
reserve for
assets of
foreign 

subsidiaries
Translation 

adjustments

Retirement
benefits 
liability

adjustments

Stock
acquisition

rights
Minority
interests

Total
net assets

Balance at January 1, 2015 ..................... $199,767 $145,750 $1,122,008 $(63,817) $26,400 $122,050 $1,075 $121,233 $    617 $292 $  7,467 $1,682,842

Dividends ................................................ – – (37,175) – – – – – – – – (37,175)
Reversal of revaluation reserve for assets 

of foreign subsidiaries ......................... – – 308 – – – (308) – – – – –
Net income ............................................. – – 85,317 – – – – – – – – 85,317

Purchases of treasury stock ..................... – – – (74) – – – – – – – (74)

Sales of treasury stock ............................. – 0 – 0 – – – – – – – 0

Other changes ........................................ – – – – 10,158 (1,225) – (77,658) (1,392) 500 4,400 (65,218)

Balance at December 31, 2015 ............ $199,767 $145,750 $1,170,458 $(63,891) $36,558 $120,825 $  767 $  43,575 $   (775) $792 $11,867 $1,665,692

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

(Note 1)

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Nine months 
ended 

December 
31, 2014

Twelve months 
ended

December 
31, 2015

Operating activities:
Income before income taxes and minority interests ............................................................ ¥17,269 ¥34,183 $143,908
Adjustments to reconcile income before income taxes and minority interests to net cash 
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization ................................................................................... 7,819 6,288 65,158
Amortization of goodwill, net .................................................................................... 651 992 5,425
(Decrease) increase in allowance for doubtful receivables ........................................... (570) 115 (4,750)
(Decrease) increase in liabilities for retirement benefits, net ........................................ (2,948) 569 (24,567)
Decrease in provision for employees' bonuses ............................................................ (522) (1,206) (4,350)
Gain on sales of investments in securities, net ............................................................ (24) (172) (200)
Interest and dividend income ..................................................................................... (745) (638) (6,208)
Interest expense ......................................................................................................... 971 764 8,092
Exchange loss (gain), net ............................................................................................ 524 (3,071) 4,367
Loss on sales or disposal of property, plant and equipment and other, net ................. 135 79 1,125
Business restructuring expenses .................................................................................. 5,000 – 41,667
Other, net .................................................................................................................. 512 142 4,267
(Increase) decrease in operating assets:

Notes and accounts receivable-trade ....................................................................... 2,421 6,412 20,175
Inventories .............................................................................................................. (3,327) (12,923) (27,725)
Other operating assets ............................................................................................ 2,470 (3,281) 20,583

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Notes and accounts payable-trade .......................................................................... 1,939 (4,841) 16,158
Accrued consumption taxes .................................................................................... 122 1,039 1,017
Other operating liabilities ........................................................................................ 1,792 432 14,933
Subtotal ................................................................................................................. 33,489 24,883 279,075

Interest and dividends received .......................................................................................... 703 630 5,858
Interest paid ...................................................................................................................... (973) (714) (8,108)
Business restructuring expenses paid ................................................................................. (4,534) – (37,783)
Income taxes paid ............................................................................................................. (10,384) (14,079) (86,534)

Net cash provided by operating activities .................................................................... 18,301 10,720 152,508
Investing activities:

Increase in time deposits ................................................................................................... (9,768) (4,335) (81,400)
Proceeds from withdrawal of time deposits ....................................................................... 8,805 6,140 73,375
Purchases of property, plant and equipment ...................................................................... (7,631) (7,526) (63,592)
Payments for disposal of property, plant and equipment ................................................... (39) (53) (325)
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment ...................................................... 4,704 109 39,200
Purchases of intangible assets ............................................................................................ (3,047) (2,248) (25,392)
Net increase in short-term investments .............................................................................. (1,434) (531) (11,950)
Purchases of investments in securities ................................................................................ (31) (1,036) (258)
Proceeds from sales and redemption of investments in securities ....................................... 316 426 2,633
Purchase of shares of subsidiaries ...................................................................................... (3) (684) (25)
Payments for sales of shares of subsidiaries resulting in change in scope of consolidation .. (115) – (958)
Net decrease (increase) in short-term loans receivable included in other current assets ....... 37 (22) 308
Long-term loans receivable made ...................................................................................... (4) (2) (33)
Collection of long-term loans receivable ............................................................................ 36 46 300
Other, net ......................................................................................................................... (533) (129) (4,441)

Net cash used in investing activities ............................................................................ (8,707) (9,845) (72,558)
Financing activities:

Net decrease in short-term bank loans ............................................................................... (7,190) (780) (59,917)
Proceeds from long-term loans .......................................................................................... – 100 –
Repayment of long-term loans .......................................................................................... (748) (358) (6,234)
Purchases of treasury stock ................................................................................................ (9) (6) (74)
Proceeds from sales of treasury stock ................................................................................ 0 0 0
Proceeds from stock issuance to minority shareholders of consolidated subsidiaries ........... 492 – 4,100
Repayment of lease obligations ......................................................................................... (808) (572) (6,733)
Cash dividends paid to the shareholders of the Company .................................................. (4,456) (3,226) (37,134)
Cash dividends paid to minority shareholders of consolidated subsidiaries ......................... (46) (6) (383)

Net cash used in financing activities ........................................................................... (12,765) (4,848) (106,375)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents .................................... (1,865) 1,390 (15,542)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ...................................................................... (5,036) (2,583) (41,967)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ............................................................. 51,051 53,634 425,425
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 4) .......................................................... ¥46,015 ¥51,051 $383,458

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ASICS Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries
December 31, 2015 and 2014

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of ASICS Corporation (the “Company”) and consolidated subsidiaries are prepared on the 

basis of accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, which are different in certain respects as to the application and disclosure 

requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards, and are compiled from the consolidated financial statements prepared by the 

Company as required by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan.

Certain reclassifications of previously reported amounts have been made to conform the accompanying consolidated financial statements 

for the nine months ended December 31, 2014 to the presentation for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015.  Such reclassifications 

had no effect on consolidated net income or net assets.

The U.S. dollar amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements have been translated from yen amounts solely for 

convenience, as a matter of arithmetic computation only, at ¥120 = U.S.$1.00, the approximate rate of exchange prevailing on December 31, 

2015. This translation should not be construed as a representation that yen amounts have been, could have been, or could in the future be, 

converted into U.S. dollars at the above or any other rate.

(a) Principles of consolidation

  The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and significant companies which it controls 

directly or indirectly.  All assets and liabilities of the consolidated subsidiaries are revalued on acquisition, if applicable.  All significant 

intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated in consolidation. 

   Certain subsidiaries were excluded from the scope of consolidation because the effect of its sales, net income or loss, total assets and 

retained earnings on the accompanying consolidated financial statements was immaterial.

(b) Foreign currency translation

  All monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into yen at the rates of exchange in effect at the 

balance sheet date and gain or loss on each translation is credited or charged to income.  Revenue and expense items arising from 

transactions denominated in foreign currencies are generally translated into yen at the rates in effect at the respective transaction dates.  

Foreign exchange gain or loss is credited or charged to income in the period in which the gain or loss is recognized for financial reporting 

purposes.

   The financial statements of the overseas consolidated subsidiaries are translated into yen at the rates of exchange in effect at the 

balance sheet date, except that the components of net assets excluding minority interests are translated at their historical exchange rates.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents

  For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, deposits with banks 

withdrawable on demand, and short-term investments which are readily convertible into cash subject to an insignificant risk of any 

change in their value and which were purchased with an original maturity of three months or less.

(d) Securities

  Marketable securities classified as other securities are carried at fair value with any changes in unrealized holding gain or loss, net of the 

applicable income taxes, reported as a separate component of net assets.  Cost of securities sold is determined by the moving-average 

method.  Non-marketable equity securities classified as other securities are stated at cost determined by the moving-average method.  

Non-marketable debt securities classified as other securities are stated at net amortized cost.

(e) Inventories

 Inventories are principally stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, cost being determined by the first-in, first-out method.

(f) Property, plant and equipment (except for leased assets under finance leases)

  The Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries compute depreciation of property, plant and equipment by the declining-balance 

method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, except that the straight-line method is applied to buildings (other than 

structures attached to the buildings) acquired on or subsequent to April 1, 1998.

   Foreign consolidated subsidiaries compute depreciation of property, plant and equipment by the straight-line method over the 

estimated useful lives of the respective assets.

   Significant renewals and additions are capitalized at cost.  Maintenance and repairs are charged to income as incurred.

   The principal estimated useful lives used for calculating depreciation are as follows:

   Buildings and structures 3 to 50 years

   Machinery, equipment and vehicles 2 to 14 years

   Tools, furniture and fixtures 2 to 20 years

(g) Intangible assets (except for leased assets under finance leases)

  Expenditures relating to computer software developed for internal use are charged to income as incurred, unless the software is expected 

to contribute to the generation of future income or to cost savings, in which case such expenditures are capitalized as intangible assets 

and amortized by the straight-line method over their respective estimated useful lives, a period of five years.

   The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries have recorded intangible assets such as sales rights, customer base and brand as a result 

of revaluation of assets and liabilities of acquired companies at fair value as part of business combinations.  Such intangible assets are 

amortized by the straight-line method over periods of 5 to 24 years.

(h) Leased assets

  Finance leases, other than those that are deemed to transfer the ownership of the leased assets to the lessees, are depreciated using the 

straight-line method over the lease term with no residual value.

(i) Goodwill

  Goodwill is amortized by the straight-line method over the estimated period of benefit of no more than 20 years from the year of 

acquisition.  

(j) Allowance for doubtful receivables

  The Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries provide an allowance for doubtful receivables at an amount calculated based on 

their historical experience of bad debts on ordinary receivables plus an additional estimate of probable specific bad debts from customers 

experiencing financial difficulties.

   The overseas consolidated subsidiaries provide an allowance for doubtful receivables at an amount calculated based on probable 

specific bad debts from their customers.

(k) Allowance for sales returns

 Allowance for sales returns is provided at an amount calculated based on the historical experience of sales returns.

(l) Provision for employees’ bonuses

  Provision for employees’ bonuses are provided at an expected payment amount of the bonuses to employees attributable to the fiscal 

year.

(m) Retirement benefits for employees

  Liabilities for retirement benefits for employees are provided principally at an amount calculated based on the retirement benefit 

obligation and the fair value of the pension plan assets as of the balance sheet date.

   The retirement benefit obligation is attributed to each period by the straight-line method over the estimated remaining years of service 

of the eligible employees.

   Net retirement benefit obligation at transition is amortized by the straight-line method over a period of 15 years.

   Actuarial gain or loss is amortized principally in the year following the year in which the gain or loss is incurred by the straight-line 

method over a period which falls within the estimated average remaining years of service of the eligible employees.  Certain consolidated 

subsidiaries amortize actuarial gain or loss in the year in which the gain or loss is incurred by the straight-line method over a period which 

falls within the estimated average remaining years of service of the eligible employees.

   Certain consolidated subsidiaries have calculated their retirement benefit obligation and retirement benefit expenses based on the 

amount which would be payable at the year end if all eligible employees terminated their services voluntarily (the “simplified method”).

(n) Research and development costs 

 Research and development costs are charged to income as incurred.  

(o) Income taxes

  Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences between the balances of assets and liabilities reported for financial 

purposes and the corresponding balances for tax reporting purposes.

Basis of Preparation1

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies2
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Implementation guidance on recoverability of deferred tax assets

On December 28, 2015, the ASBJ issued “Implementation Guidance on Recoverability of Deferred Tax Assets” (ASBJ Guidance No.26). 

The ASBJ basically continues to apply the framework used in “Audit Treatment of Judgments with Regard to Recoverability of Deferred Tax 

Assets” (Audit Committee Report No. 66, Japanese Institute of Certified Public Accountants), where an entity is classified into one of five 

categories according to certain criteria and the recoverability of deferred tax assets is assessed based on the entity’s assigned category. 

However, the ASBJ reflected necessary changes in the guidance regarding the following accounting treatments:

(1) Classification is clarified for entities that do not meet the criteria for any of the five categories.

(2)  Criteria for classifying entities as “Category 2” or “Category 3” is changed from ordinary income to taxable income in the absence of 

infrequent or unusual events.

(3)  For “Category 2” entities, deferred tax assets attributable to deductible temporary differences for which scheduling the timing of the 

reversals is not possible are considered to be realizable if certain conditions are met.  Under Audit Committee Report No.66, deferred tax 

assets are considered to be realizable to the extent not exceeding the amount based on a scheduling of future reversals of temporary 

differences.

(4)  For “Category 3” entities, the future period of estimated taxable income can be estimated in excess of five years if certain conditions are 

met.  Under Audit Committee Report No.66, the future estimable period is generally limited to five years.

(5)  For entities classified as “Category 4,” they can be treated as “Category 2” or “Category 3” if certain conditions are met and such entities 

can use the methods of measurement of deferred tax assets stipulated in “Category 2” or “Category 3.”

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries will adopt the guidance effective January 1, 2017.  At present, the Company is in the process of 

evaluating the impact on the consolidated financial statements of the adoption of this implementation guidance.

(p) Derivatives and hedging activities

  Derivatives positions are carried at fair value with any changes in unrealized gain or loss charged or credited to income, except for those 

which meet the criteria for deferral hedge accounting under which unrealized gain or loss is deferred as a component of net assets.  

Receivables and payables hedged by qualified forward foreign exchange contracts are translated at the corresponding foreign exchange 

contract rates (“allocation method”).  Interest-rate swaps which meet certain conditions are accounted for as if the interest rates applied 

to the swaps had originally applied to the underlying debt (“special treatment”).

   The hedge effectiveness of forward foreign exchange transactions is assessed by considering whether the transactions qualify based on 

past experience and the probability of the forecasted transaction.  The hedge effectiveness of interest-rate swaps and currency options is 

assessed based on a comparison of the cumulative changes in cash flows of the hedged items and those of the hedging instruments in 

the period from the start of the hedging relationship to the assessment date.  However, the assessment of hedge effectiveness is omitted 

if a high level of hedge effectiveness is identified based on the terms of the contracts.

(q) Distribution of retained earnings

  Under the Corporation Law of Japan (the “Law”), the distribution of retained earnings with respect to a given financial period is made by 

resolution of the shareholders at a general meeting held subsequent to the close of the financial period.  The accounts for that period do 

not, therefore, reflect such distributions.  Refer to Note 22 (1). 

The balances of cash and deposits reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2015 and 2014 were reconciled 

to the balances of cash and cash equivalents in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows for the twelve months ended 

December 31, 2015 and the nine months ended December 31, 2014 as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2015 2014 2015

Cash and deposits ............................................................................................................. ¥52,398 ¥54,888 $436,650
Money management funds, included in short-term investments ........................................ 138 138 1,150
Time deposits with original maturities in excess of three months, 

included in cash and deposits ........................................................................................ (6,521) (3,975) (54,342)
Cash and cash equivalents ................................................................................................ ¥46,015 ¥51,051 $383,458

Information regarding other securities with determinable market value at December 31, 2015 and 2014 is summarized as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

2015 2014 2015

Carrying 
value

Acquisition 
costs

Unrealized 
gain (loss)

Carrying 
value

Acquisition 
costs

Unrealized 
gain (loss)

Carrying 
value

Acquisition 
costs

Unrealized 
gain (loss)

Securities whose carrying 
value exceeds their 
acquisition costs:
Equity securities ¥10,786 ¥5,202 ¥5,584 ¥  9,108 ¥5,160 ¥3,948 $  89,883 $43,350 $46,533
Corporate bonds 91 90 1 92 90 2 758 750 8
Other 3,523 2,921 602 2,210 1,620 590 29,359 24,342 5,017
Subtotal 14,400 8,213 6,187 11,410 6,870 4,540 120,000 68,442 51,558

Securities whose carrying 
value does not exceed 
their acquisition costs:
Equity securities 0 0 (0) 81 86 (5) 0 0 (0)
Corporate bonds – – – – – – – – –
Other 1,509 1,509 – 1,593 1,593 – 12,574 12,574 –
Subtotal 1,509 1,509 (0) 1,674 1,679 (5) 12,574 12,574 (0)

Total ¥15,909 ¥9,722 ¥6,187 ¥13,084 ¥8,549 ¥4,535 $132,574 $81,016 $51,558

Accounting standards for business combinations

“Revised Accounting Standard for Business Combinations” (Accounting Standards Board of Japan (“ASBJ”) Statement No.21), “Revised 

Accounting Standard for Consolidated Financial Statements” (ASBJ Statement No.22), “Revised Accounting Standard for Business Divestitures” 

(ASBJ Statement No.7), “Revised Accounting Standard for Earnings Per Share” (ASBJ Statement No.2), “Revised Guidance on Accounting 

Standard for Business Combinations and Accounting Standard for Business Divestitures” (ASBJ Guidance No.10) and “Revised Guidance on 

Accounting Standard for Earnings Per Share” (ASBJ Guidance No.4) were issued on September 13, 2013.  However, these accounting standards 

have not yet been adopted as of December 31, 2015.

Under these revised accounting standards, major accounting changes are as follows:

(1)  Any differences arising from the movement of ownership interests in its subsidiaries shall be accounted for as changes in capital surplus as 

long as the parent company retains control over its subsidiary. 

(2)  Acquisition-related costs shall be accounted for as expenses when incurred.

(3)  “Income before minority interests” in the current period consolidated statement of income will be changed to “net income,” and “net 

income” in the current period consolidated statement of income will be changed to “net income attributable to shareholders of the 

parent company.”  In addition, “minority interests” in the current period consolidated balance sheet will be changed to “non-controlling 

interests.”  

(4)  If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the business combination 

occurs, an acquirer shall report provisional amounts for the items whose accounting is incomplete in its financial statements (“provisional 

accounting”).  Under these revised accounting standards, if accounting for a business combination is completed during the next fiscal year 

(the “completion period”) and consolidated financial statements for the completion period and those for the acquisition period are 

comparatively disclosed, the acquirer shall retrospectively adjust the provisional amounts recognized at the acquisition date to the 

completed amounts and shall reflect new information on facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date.  Such 

adjustments shall be recognized as if the accounting for the business combination had been completed at the acquisition date.

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries will adopt these accounting standards effective January 1, 2016.  However, provisional 

accounting will be adopted for business combinations conducted on or after January 1, 2016.  At present, the Company is in the process of 

evaluating the impact on the consolidated financial statements of the adoption of these revised accounting standards.

Practical solution on unification of accounting policies applied to foreign subsidiaries for consolidated financial statements 

On March 26, 2015, the ASBJ issued “Revised Practical Solution on Unification of Accounting Policies Applied to Foreign Subsidiaries for 

Consolidated Financial Statements” (ASBJ Practical Issues Task Force No.18).

The ASBJ issued the revised practical solution to reflect the change in accounting treatment for goodwill following a revision to U.S. GAAP 

in January 2014, to reflect the revision to “Accounting Standard for Consolidated Financial Statements” (ASBJ Statement No.22) in September 

2013, and to clarify how actuarial gain or loss related to retirement benefit accounting is charged to income.

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries will adopt this revised practical solution effective January 1, 2016.  At present, the Company is in 

the process of evaluating the impact on the consolidated financial statements of the adoption of this revised practical solution.

Cash and Deposits4

Short-Term Investments and Investments in Securities5

Accounting Standards Issued but Not Yet Effective3
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The average annual interest rates on short-term bank loans are 1.2% and 0.9% at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Long-term debt at December 31, 2015 and 2014 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2014 2015

1.35% yen unsecured bonds, due 2016 .................................................................................... ¥    5,000 ¥  5,000 $    41,666
1.32% yen unsecured bonds, due 2016 .................................................................................... 3,000 3,000 25,000
1.45% yen unsecured bonds, due 2016 .................................................................................... 3,000 3,000 25,000
0.85% yen unsecured bonds, due 2017 .................................................................................... 2,000 2,000 16,667
0.94% yen unsecured bonds, due 2017 .................................................................................... 1,500 1,500 12,500
0.91% yen unsecured bonds, due 2017 .................................................................................... 1,500 1,500 12,500
Zero-coupon unsecured bonds with stock acquisition rights, due 2019 ..................................... 30,095 30,125 250,792
Unsecured loans primarily from banks, due 2017-2018 at interest rates  

ranging from 0.25% to 3.03% ............................................................................................. 8,590 9,337 71,583
Lease obligations ...................................................................................................................... 6,562 4,874 54,683

61,247 60,336 510,391
Current portion of long-term debt ............................................................................................ (14,749) (1,364) (122,908)

¥  46,498 ¥58,972 $  387,483 

Zero-coupon unsecured bonds with stock acquisition rights with a gross issuance amount of ¥30,150 million ($251,250 thousand) were 

convertible into shares of common stock of the Company at ¥2,731.3 ($23) per share and are exercisable from March 17, 2014 to February 15, 

2019.

Information on the aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt subsequent to December 31, 2015 is presented in Note 16.

The following is a summary of inventories at December 31, 2015 and 2014:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2014 2015

Merchandise and finished products ........................................................................................... ¥98,224 ¥  99,181 $818,533
Work in process ........................................................................................................................ 325 345 2,708
Raw materials and supplies ....................................................................................................... 787 886 6,559

¥99,336 ¥100,412 $827,800

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries basically group their assets by retail store and individually group assets that are planned to be 

sold and idle assets.  The assets are grouped by cash-generating units defined as the smallest identifiable groups of assets generating cash 

inflows.

The Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries have written down idle assets, asset groups whose operating income has been 

continuously negative and industrial sites that are to be transferred whose estimated transfer price is lower than their carrying value to their 

respective net selling value, and recorded related losses on impairment of property, plant and equipment.  

The recoverable value of the assets (or groups of assets) at retail stores, idle assets which are not expected to be utilized in the future and 

industrial sites with net selling value exceeding carrying value are measured based on their respective estimated net selling value determined by 

the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries.

The book value of leased assets is computed based on future lease payments.

The details of loss on impairment of property, plant and equipment for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and the nine months 

ended December 31, 2014 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Use Location Classification

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Retail stores
4 Retail stores
(Kanto 1 store and Europe 3 stores)

Tools, furniture and 
fixtures ¥  84 $   700

Leased assets 11 92
Other assets 1 8

Industrial site Kyushu Land 57 475
Total ¥153 $1,275

Millions of yen

Use Location Classification

Nine months 
ended 

December 
31, 2014

Retail stores
8 Retail stores
(Kanto 5 stores, Kansai 2 stores and Shikoku 1 store)

Leased assets ¥  70

Other assets 13
Idle assets Hokuriku Building and structures 89

Tools, furniture and 
fixtures 0

Total ¥172

The total amounts of gain on sales of other securities included in short-term investments and investments in securities for the twelve months 

ended December 31, 2015 and the nine months ended December 31, 2014 are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Nine months 
ended 

December 
31, 2014

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Total sales ................................................................................................................................. ¥297 ¥317 $2,475
Gain on sales ............................................................................................................................ 24 172 200

Short-Term Bank Loans and Long-Term Debt8
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Loss on Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment7

(a) Outline of asset retirement obligations

  The Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries estimated the cost of restoration liabilities based on property lease agreements 

of certain domestic offices and retail stores and recognized them as asset retirement obligations.  The Company and its domestic 

consolidated subsidiaries also estimated the disposal costs determined under the “Ordinance on Prevention of Asbestos Hazards.” Certain 

overseas consolidated subsidiaries estimated restoration costs for certain overseas offices at the time of vacating the leased property and 

recognized them as asset retirement obligations.   

(b) Calculation method for asset retirement obligations

  Asset retirement obligations for the restoration liabilities based on the property lease agreements of certain domestic offices and retail 

stores were calculated using an estimated useful life of 5 to 41 years from the acquisitions of leasehold improvements and discount rates 

from 0.035% to 1.397%.  Asset retirement obligations for the disposal costs determined under the “Ordinance on Prevention of Asbestos 

Hazards” were calculated using an estimated useful life of 2 to 35 years from the acquisitions of leasehold improvements and discount 

rates from 0.156% to 2.301%.  Asset retirement obligations for the restoration costs of certain overseas offices at the time of vacating 

the leased property were calculated using an estimated useful life of 5 to 17 years from the acquisitions of leasehold improvements and 

discount rates from 1.733% to 5.5%.

(c)  Changes in the balance of asset retirement obligations during the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and the nine months ended 

December 31, 2014 are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Twelve months 
ended 

December
31, 2015

Nine months 
ended 

December 
31, 2014

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Balance at beginning of the period ................................................................................... ¥   860 ¥804 $7,167
Increase due to acquisition of property, plant and equipment ........................................... 210 77 1,750
Accretion expense ............................................................................................................. 16 10 133
Decrease due to settlement of asset retirement liabilities ................................................... (60) (53) (500)
Other (decrease) increase, net ........................................................................................... (3) 22 (25)
Balance at end of the period ............................................................................................. ¥1,023 ¥860 $8,525

  Disclosure of detailed information on the asset retirement obligations at December 31, 2015 and 2014 was omitted because the total 

amount of asset retirement obligations at December 31, 2015 and 2014 was less than 1% of the amount of total liabilities and net assets.

Asset Retirement Obligations 9
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The Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries have defined benefit pension plans, i.e., welfare pension fund plans (“WPFPs”) and 

lump-sum payment plans, covering substantially all employees who are entitled to lump-sum or annuity payments, the amounts of which are 

determined by reference to each retiree’s position and basic salary at termination, as well as length of service and certain other factors.  The 

Company and a consolidated subsidiary transferred a portion of their defined benefit pension plans to defined contribution pension plans 

during the twelve months ended December 31, 2015.  Certain consolidated subsidiaries have adopted a defined contribution pension plan or 

have joined the smaller enterprise retirement allowance mutual aid plan.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

The changes in the retirement benefit obligations, except for plans accounted for by the simplified method, during the twelve months ended 

December 31, 2015 and the nine months ended December 31, 2014 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Nine months 
ended 

December 
31, 2014

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Retirement benefit obligations at the beginning of the period ................................................... ¥15,345 ¥14,992 $127,875
Cumulative effect of change in method of accounting .............................................................. – (345) –
Balance as adjusted ................................................................................................................... 15,345 14,647 127,875
Service cost ............................................................................................................................... 836 699 6,967
Interest cost .............................................................................................................................. 141 115 1,175
Actuarial loss ............................................................................................................................ 173 47 1,442
Retirement benefits paid ........................................................................................................... (1,904) (202) (15,867)
Decrease in liabilities for retirement benefits due to change to defined  

contribution pension plans .................................................................................................... (1,971) – (16,425)
Other ........................................................................................................................................ (23) 39 (192)
Retirement benefit obligations at the end of the period ............................................................ ¥12,597 ¥15,345 $104,975

The changes in plan assets, except for plans accounted for by the simplified method, during the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 

and the nine months ended December 31, 2014 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Nine months 
ended 

December 
31, 2014

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Plan assets at the beginning of the period ................................................................................. ¥9,291 ¥8,739 $77,425
Expected return on plan assets .................................................................................................. 189 137 1,575
Actuarial (loss) gain ................................................................................................................... (227) 280 (1,892)
Contributions paid by the Company and a consolidated subsidiary ............................................ 290 243 2,417
Retirement benefits paid ........................................................................................................... (643) (142) (5,358)
Other ........................................................................................................................................ (21) 34 (175)
Plan assets at the end of the period .......................................................................................... ¥8,879 ¥9,291 $73,992

The changes in liabilities for retirement benefits calculated by the simplified method during the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 

and the nine months ended December 31, 2014 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Nine months 
ended 

December 
31, 2014

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Liabilities for retirement benefits at the beginning of the period ............................................. ¥1,643 ¥1,569 $13,692
Retirement benefit expenses .................................................................................................. 166 165 1,383
Payment of retirement benefits .............................................................................................. (377) (40) (3,142)
Decrease in liability of subsidiary resulting in exclusion from consolidation ............................. (338) – (2,817)
Decrease in liabilities for retirement benefits due to change to defined  

contribution pension plans ................................................................................................. (67) – (558)
Other ..................................................................................................................................... (54) (51) (449)
Liabilities for retirement benefits at the end of period ............................................................ ¥   973 ¥1,643 $  8,109

The following table sets forth the funded status of the plans and the amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 

31, 2015 and 2014 for the Company’s and the consolidated subsidiaries’ defined benefit pension plan:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2014 2015

Funded retirement benefit obligations ....................................................................................... ¥13,483 ¥17,464 $112,358
Plan assets at fair value ............................................................................................................. (9,244) (10,163) (77,033)

4,239 7,301 35,325
Unfunded retirement benefit obligations ................................................................................... 452 417 3,767
Net liability for retirement benefits in the balance sheet ............................................................ 4,691 7,718 39,092
Liabilities for retirement benefits ............................................................................................... 4,775 8,241 39,792
Assets for retirement benefits ................................................................................................... (84) (523) (700)
Net liability for retirement benefits in the balance sheet ............................................................ ¥  4,691 ¥  7,718 $  39,092

The components of retirement benefit expenses for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and the nine months ended December 31, 

2014 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Nine months 
ended 

December 
31, 2014

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Service cost ............................................................................................................................... ¥   836 ¥   699 $6,967
Interest cost .............................................................................................................................. 141 115 1,175
Expected return on plan assets .................................................................................................. (189) (137) (1,575)
Amortization of net retirement benefits at transition ................................................................. 54 161 450
Amortization of unrecognized actuarial loss .............................................................................. 46 22 383
Net retirement benefit expenses calculated by the simplified method ........................................ 166 165 1,383
Retirement benefit expenses ..................................................................................................... ¥1,054 ¥1,025 $8,783

(Note)  In addition to the above, additional payments of ¥4,577 million ($38,142 thousand) resulting from business restructuring were recorded 
as business restructuring expenses for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015.

Net retirement benefit obligation at transition and actuarial loss included in other comprehensive income (before tax effects) for the twelve 

months ended December 31, 2015 and the nine months ended December 31, 2014 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Nine months 
ended 

December 
31, 2014

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Net retirement benefit obligation at transition ........................................................................... ¥  54 ¥161 $450
Actuarial loss ............................................................................................................................ 46 22 383

¥100 ¥183 $833

Unrecognized net retirement benefit obligation at transition and unrecognized actuarial loss (gain) included in accumulated other comprehensive 

income (before tax effects) as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2014 2015

Unrecognized net retirement benefit obligation at transition ¥  – ¥   54 $      –
Unrecognized actuarial loss (gain) ............................................................................................. 137 (178) 1,142

¥137 ¥(124) $1,142

The fair value of plan assets, by major category, as a percentage of total plan assets as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

2015 2014

Debt securities ................................................................................................................................................. 57% 55%
Equity securities ............................................................................................................................................... 12 10
Cash and deposits ............................................................................................................................................ 3 4
General accounts controlled by insurance companies ....................................................................................... 25 28
Other ............................................................................................................................................................... 3 3
Total ................................................................................................................................................................ 100% 100%

Retirement Benefits10
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The expected return on plan assets has been estimated considering the anticipated allocation to each asset class and the expected long-term 

returns on assets held in each category.

The assumptions used in accounting for the above retirement benefit plans for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and the nine 

months ended December 31, 2014 are as follows:

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Nine months 
ended 

December 
31, 2014

Discount rates ............................................................................................................................................. 0.9% - 2.9% 0.9% - 3.2%
Expected rates of return on plan assets ....................................................................................................... 1.3% - 2.0% 2.0% - 2.7%

Defined Contribution Pension Plans

Total contributions paid by the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries to the defined contribution pension plans for the twelve months 

ended December 31, 2015 and the nine months ended December 31, 2014 amounted to ¥830 million ($6,917 thousand) and ¥797 million, 

respectively.

A description of the stock option plan (the “2015 plan”) is as follows:

Stock option plans 2015 plan
Date of approval at a meeting of the Board of Directors April 7, 2015
Individuals covered by the plan Directors other than outside directors 5

Employees of the Company 6
Directors of the Company’s subsidiaries 3
Employees of the Company’s subsidiaries 2

Type and number of shares to be issued  
upon the exercise of the stock options 2015 plan

Common stock ..................................................... 23,700

Grant date ............................................................ May 12, 2015

Service period ....................................................... Not defined

Exercise period ...................................................... From May 13, 2018 to May 12, 2045

A description of the stock option plan (the “2014 plan”) is as follows:

Stock option plans 2015 plan
Date of approval at a meeting of the Board of Directors July 18, 2014
Individuals covered by the plan Directors other than outside directors 7

Executive officers who are residents of Japan under the 
Income Tax Law of Japan 6

Directors of the Company’s subsidiaries 3
Employees of the Company’s subsidiaries 2

Type and number of shares to be issued  
upon the exercise of the stock options 2014 plan

Common stock ..................................................... 26,500

Grant date ............................................................ August 8, 2014

Service period ....................................................... Not defined

Exercise period ...................................................... From August 9, 2017 to August 8, 2044

A description of the stock option plan (the “2013 plan”) is as follows:

Stock option plans 2013 plan
Date of approval at a meeting of the Board of Directors July 19, 2013
Individuals covered by the plan Directors other than outside directors 7

Executive officers who are residents of Japan under the 
Income Tax Law of Japan 5

Type and number of shares to be issued  
upon the exercise of the stock options 2013 plan

Common stock ..................................................... 37,200

Grant date ............................................................ August 6, 2013

Service period ....................................................... Not defined

Exercise period ...................................................... From August 7, 2016 to August 6, 2043

Vesting conditions for the exercise of stock acquisition rights are as follows:

For the “2015 plan”

If the individuals to whom the stock acquisition rights are granted (the “Holders”) forfeit stock acquisition rights, the stock options cannot 

be exercised.

For the “2014 plan” and “2013 plan”

1)   When the Holders to whom the stock acquisition rights are granted (the “Holders”) cease to be a director or/and executive officer, the 

Holders can exercise the rights within five years following the date on which the Holders leave their positions with valid reasons as 

approved by the Company, such as the fulfillment of the service period.

2)   If the Holders forfeit stock acquisition rights, the stock options cannot be exercised.

3)   Other conditions are included in the contract entered into between the Company and the Holders.

The Law provides that an amount equal to 10% of the amount to be disbursed as distributions of capital surplus (other than the capital 

reserve) and retained earnings (other than the legal reserve) be transferred to the capital reserve and the legal reserve, respectively, until the 

sum of the capital reserve and the legal reserve equals 25% of the capital stock account.  Such distributions can be made at any time by 

resolution of the shareholders or by the Board of Directors if certain conditions are met.

The Company’s legal reserve included in retained earnings is nil at December 31, 2015 and 2014.

Movements in common stock and treasury stock for twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and the nine months ended December 31, 

2014 are summarized as follows:

Number of Shares
Twelve months ended December 31, 2015

January 1, 2015 Increase Decrease December 31, 2015
Shares issued:
Common Stock ................... 199,962,991 – – 199,962,991

Treasury stock:
Treasury Stock .................... 10,140,795 2,807 30 10,143,572

The increase in treasury stock of 2,807 shares is due to purchases of shares of less than one voting unit and the decrease in treasury stock of 

30 shares is due to sales of shares at the requests of shareholders who own less than one voting unit for the twelve months ended December 

31, 2015.

Number of Shares
Nine months ended December 31, 2014

April 1, 2014 Increase Decrease December 31, 2014
Shares issued:
Common Stock ................... 199,962,991 – – 199,962,991

Treasury stock:
Treasury Stock .................... 10,137,988 2,837 30 10,140,795

The increase in treasury stock of 2,837 shares is due to purchases of shares of less than one voting unit and the decrease in treasury stock of 

30 shares is due to sales of shares at the requests of shareholders who own less than one voting unit for the nine months ended December 31, 

2014.

Stock option plans

Stock option costs included in selling, general and administrative expenses for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and the nine 

months ended December 31, 2014 amounted to ¥60 million ($500 thousand) and ¥21 million, respectively.

Shareholders’ Equity11
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The following table summarizes stock option activity under the stock option plans referred to above during the twelve months ended 

December 31, 2015:
2015 plan 2014 plan 2013 plan

Number of stock options
Unvested:

Outstanding at the end of prior fiscal period  ...................................... – 25,100 34,700
Granted .............................................................................................. 23,700 – –
Forfeited ............................................................................................. – – –
Vested ................................................................................................ – – –
Outstanding at the end of the fiscal period ......................................... 23,700 25,100 34,700

Vested:
Outstanding at the end of prior fiscal period ....................................... – – –
Vested ................................................................................................ – – –
Exercised ............................................................................................. – – –
Forfeited ............................................................................................. – – –
Outstanding at the end of prior fiscal period ....................................... – – –

Exercise price ..........................................................................................  ¥ 1 ($ 0.01)  ¥ 1 ($ 0.01)  ¥ 1 ($ 0.01)
Weighted average exercise price ............................................................. – – –
Weighted average fair value per stock at the grant date ..........................  ¥ 3,008($ 25)  ¥ 2,135($ 18)  ¥ 1,707($ 14)

Valuation method for estimating fair value was the Black-Scholes model.  The major assumptions used for the 2015 stock option plan are as 

follows:
Major assumptions Note 2015 plan

Estimated volatility (a) 41.669%

Estimated remaining period (b) 7.7 years

Estimated dividend (c) ¥23.5 ($0.20) per share

Risk-free rate (d) 0.309%

(a)  Estimated volatility was computed by the closing stock prices of common stock in each trading day from August 10, 2007 to May 12, 

2015.

(b)  Because adequate data was unavailable and it is difficult to reasonably estimate the exercise date, the remaining period was estimated as 

if stock options were exercised in the middle of the exercisable period.

(c)  The estimated dividend was calculated based on the dividend amount applicable to nine months ended December 31, 2014.

(d)  The risk-free rate was determined based on the rate of Japanese government bonds, for which redemption dates corresponded to the 

estimated remaining period.

Because it is difficult to reasonably estimate the number of stock options that will be forfeited in the future, the estimation reflects only the 

actual number of forfeited stock options.

Research and development costs included in selling, general and administrative expenses for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and 

the nine months ended December 31, 2014 amounted to ¥3,195 million ($26,625 thousand) and ¥2,120 million, respectively.

Business restructuring expenses represent additional payments of retirements benefit related to the Company’s early retirement program.

Income taxes applicable to the Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries consist of corporation, inhabitants’ and enterprise taxes.  

The statutory tax rate in Japan for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and the nine months ended December 31, 2014 are, in the 

aggregate, approximately 35.6%.  The effective tax rate reflected in the accompanying consolidated statement of income for twelve months 

ended December 31, 2015 differed from the above statutory tax rate for the following reasons:

Twelve months ended December 31, 2015

Statutory tax rate: ....................................................................................................................................... 35.6%
Permanently non-deductible expenses ..................................................................................................... 0.4
Permanently non-taxable income ............................................................................................................ (0.2)
Change in valuation allowance ............................................................................................................... 9.4
Tax rate difference at overseas consolidated subsidiaries ......................................................................... (11.8)
Decrease in deferred tax assets resulting from change in statutory tax rate .............................................. 1.1
Differences in the tax systems of overseas consolidated subsidiaries ........................................................ 4.7
Other ...................................................................................................................................................... 1.0

Effective tax rate ......................................................................................................................................... 40.2%

A reconciliation of the statutory tax rate and the effective tax rate for the nine months ended December 31, 2014 was omitted as the 

difference was less than 5% of the statutory tax rate.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities for 

financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts for income tax purposes.  The significant components of the deferred tax assets 

and liabilities of the Company and consolidated subsidiaries at December 31, 2015 and 2014 are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2015 2014 2015

Deferred tax assets: ...................................................................................................................
Inventories ............................................................................................................................ ¥  3,495 ¥  3,793 $  29,125
Allowance for doubtful receivables ....................................................................................... 1,397 1,105 11,642
Provision for employees’ bonuses .......................................................................................... 243 575 2,025
Liability for retirement benefits .............................................................................................. 1,869 2,785 15,575
Tax loss carry forwards .......................................................................................................... 2,949 771 24,575
Other .................................................................................................................................... 3,458 2,810 28,816

Gross deferred tax assets .......................................................................................................... 13,411 11,839 111,758
Less valuation allowance ........................................................................................................... (3,261) (2,139) (27,175)
Total deferred tax assets ........................................................................................................... 10,150 9,700 84,583
Deferred tax liabilities: ...............................................................................................................

Unrealized holding gain on securities .................................................................................... 1,560 1,125 13,000
Valuation difference of consolidated subsidiaries ................................................................... 1,909 2,412 15,908
Deferred gain on hedges ....................................................................................................... 5,246 5,989 43,717
Other .................................................................................................................................... 1,664 1,908 13,866

Total deferred tax liabilities ....................................................................................................... 10,379 11,434 86,491
Net deferred tax liabilities .......................................................................................................... ¥   (229) ¥ (1,734) $  (1,908)

The “Act for Partial Amendment of the Income Tax Act, etc.” and the “Act for Partial Amendment of the Local Tax Act, etc.” were 

promulgated on March 31, 2015.  Accordingly, the statutory tax rate used for calculating deferred tax assets and liabilities will be reduced from 

35.6% to 33.0% for the temporary differences expected to be realized or settled during the period between January 1, 2016 and December 

31, 2016 and to 32.2% for the temporary differences expected to be realized or settled from January 1, 2017.

As a result of this change in tax rates, deferred income tax liabilities, net of deferred income tax assets, decreased by ¥51 million ($425 

thousand), and income taxes – deferred, unrealized holding gain on securities and unrealized holding gain on hedges increased by ¥181 million 

($1,508 thousand), ¥168 million ($1,400 thousand) and ¥65 million ($542 thousand) respectively, as of and for the twelve months ended 

December 31, 2015.

Research and Development Costs12

Business Restructuring Expenses13

Income Taxes14
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(a) Status of financial instruments 

  In consideration of plans for capital investment, the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) raise funds 

mainly by bank borrowings and bonds issuance.  The Group manages temporary fund surpluses principally through liquid financial assets.  

Furthermore, the Group raises short-term working capital through bank borrowings.  The Group uses derivatives for the purpose of 

reducing risk and does not enter into derivatives for speculative purposes.

   Trade receivables, notes and accounts receivables, are exposed to credit risk in relation to customers.  In addition, the Group is exposed 

to foreign currency exchange risk arising from trade receivables denominated in foreign currencies, and forward foreign currency 

exchange contracts and others are arranged to reduce the risk.

   Marketable securities and investments in securities are exposed to market risk.  Those securities are mainly composed of equity 

securities of companies with which the Group has business relationships.  

   Substantially all trade payables, trade notes and accounts payable, have payment due dates within four months.  Although a portion of 

payables are exposed to foreign currency exchange risk arising from those payables denominated in foreign currencies, forward foreign 

currency exchange contracts and others are arranged to reduce the risk.

   Loans, bonds and bonds with stock acquisition rights are taken out principally for the purpose of conducting business activities and 

making capital investments.  The repayment dates of the long-term debt extend up to five years from the balance sheet date.  Although a 

portion of the debt is exposed to interest rate fluctuation risk, the Group undertakes interest rate swap transactions as hedging 

instruments.

   Regarding derivatives, the Group enters into forward foreign currency exchange contracts and others to reduce the foreign currency 

exchange risk mainly on the payables denominated in foreign currencies resulting from importing products within the actual demand for 

foreign currency exchange.  The Group also enters into interest rate swap transactions to reduce future fluctuation risk deriving from 

interest rates of long-term loans and bonds.  Refer to “(p) Derivatives and hedging activities” in Note 2 “Summary of Significant 

Accounting Policies” for hedge accounting policy. 

   Regarding trade receivables, each related division monitors the credit worthiness of their main customers periodically, and monitors due 

dates and outstanding balances by customer.  In addition, the Group is making efforts to identify at an early stage and mitigate risks of 

bad debt from customers who have financial difficulties.

   In accordance with internal policies, “Policies of Administrative Authority,” the Group only acquires debt securities held for investment 

purposes with high credit ratings.  Accordingly, the Group believes that the credit risk deriving from such debt securities is immaterial.

   The Group also believes that the credit risk of derivatives is insignificant as the Group enters into derivative transactions only with 

international financial institutions with sound credit profiles.

   In conducting derivative transactions, the division in charge of each derivative transaction follows the internal policies, “Policies on 

Derivative Transactions,” and “Policies of Administrative Authority,” which set forth delegation of authority and segregation of duties 

related to derivative transactions.  The Accounting and Financing Department conducts and manages derivative transactions and 

segregates duties of execution and management of transactions to separate personnel and management who are each responsible for 

transactions, positions and operations.  Transaction data and other information are regularly reported to the executive board meeting by 

the responsible executive officer.

   For short-term investments and investments in securities, the Group periodically reviews the fair value of such financial instruments and 

the financial position of the issuers.  In addition, the Group continuously evaluates whether or not security investments should be 

maintained, taking into account their fair value and relationships with the issuers.

   Certain consolidated subsidiaries that enter into derivative transactions or buy/sell marketable securities and investments in securities 

also follow internal policies and base transactions are overseen and reviewed by management departments of these subsidiaries.

   Based on a report from each division, the Group prepares and updates its cash flow plans on a timely basis and maintains solvency to 

manage liquidity risk.

   The fair value of financial instruments is based on their quoted market price, if available.  When there is no quoted market price 

available, fair value is reasonably estimated.  Since various assumptions and factors are reflected in estimating the fair value, different 

assumptions and factors could result in a different fair value. In addition, the notional principal amounts of derivative transactions in Note 

17 “Derivatives and Hedging Activities” are not necessarily indicative of the actual market risk.

(b) Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

  Carrying value, estimated fair value and the difference between them for financial instruments on the consolidated balance sheets as of 

December 31, 2015 and 2014 are shown in the following table.  The table does not include financial instruments for which it is extremely 

difficult to determine the fair value.

Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

2015

Carrying value Fair value Difference Carrying value Fair value Difference

Assets:
Cash and deposits .........................................  ¥ 52,398  ¥ 52,398  ¥ – $   436,650 $   436,650 $        –
Notes and accounts receivable-trade ............. 75,372 – – 628,100 – –
Less allowance for doubtful receivables (*1) .. (3,358) – – (27,983) – –

72,014 72,014 – 600,117 600,117 –
Short-term investments and investments in 
securities:
Other investment securities ....................... 15,909 15,909 – 132,574 132,574 –
Total assets................................................  ¥ 140,321  ¥ 140,321  ¥ – $1,169,341 $1,169,341 $        –

Liabilities:
Notes and accounts payable-trade ................  ¥ 27,868  ¥ 27,868  ¥ – $   232,233 $   232,233 $        –
Short-term bank loans and current portion of 
long-term loans .......................................... 10,280 10,280 – 85,667 85,667 –

Bonds included in long-term debt ................. 5,000 5,041 41 41,667 42,009 342
Bonds with stock acquisition rights ............... 30,095 34,866 4,771 250,792 290,550 39,758
Long-term loans ............................................ 5,550 5,560 10 46,250 46,333 83

Total liabilities............................................  ¥ 78,793  ¥ 83,615  ¥ 4,822 $   656,609 $   696,792 $40,183
Derivative transactions (*2) ...............................  ¥ 19,852  ¥ 19,852  ¥ – $   165,433 $   165,433 $        –

Millions of yen

2014

Carrying value Fair value Difference

Assets:
Cash and deposits .........................................  ¥ 54,888  ¥ 54,888  ¥ –
Notes and accounts receivable-trade ............. 80,992 – –
Less allowance for doubtful receivables (*1) .. (3,899) – –

77,093 77,093 –
Short-term investments and investments in 
securities:
Other investment securities ....................... 13,084 13,084 –
Total assets................................................  ¥ 145,065  ¥ 145,065  ¥ –

Liabilities:
Notes and accounts payable-trade ................  ¥ 27,264  ¥ 27,264  ¥ –
Short-term bank loans and current portion of 
long-term loans .......................................... 15,414 15,414 –

Bonds included in long-term debt  ................ 16,000 16,182 182
Bonds with stock acquisition rights ............... 30,125 36,482 6,357
Long-term loans ............................................ 8,590 8,565 (25)

Total liabilities............................................  ¥ 97,393  ¥ 103,907  ¥ 6,514
Derivative transactions (*2) ...............................  ¥ 20,976  ¥ 20,976  ¥ –

 Notes:
 (*1) The amount of less allowance for doubtful receivables in the above table is related to notes and accounts receivable-trade.
 (*2) The value of assets and liabilities arising from derivatives is a net value, and the amount in parentheses represents a liability position.
   Since cash and deposits, and notes and accounts receivable-trade are settled in a short period of time, their carrying value approximates 

the fair value.
   The fair value of equity securities is based on quoted market prices.  The fair value of debt securities is based on either quoted market 

prices or the prices provided by the financial institutions making markets for these securities.
   Since notes and accounts payable-trade, and short-term bank loans and current portion of long-term loans are settled in a short period 

Financial Instruments16

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries have entered into finance lease contracts which do not transfer the ownership of the leased 

assets to them.  Main components of such finance leases are a distribution center classified as land and buildings and computer software 

classified as intangible assets, entered on or after April 1, 2008. 

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries also have entered into non-cancellable operating lease contracts.  Future minimum lease 

payments subsequent to December 31, 2015 under non-cancellable operating leases are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

Year ending December 31,

2016................................................................................................................................................................ ¥  6,037 $  50,308

2017 and thereafter ......................................................................................................................................... 31,106 259,217

¥37,143 $309,525

Leases15
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of time, their carrying value approximates the fair value.
   The fair value of bonds included in long-term debt is based on the present value of the total of principal and interest discounted by the 

interest rate determined taking into account the remaining period for each bond and the current credit risk.
   The fair value of bonds with stock acquisition rights is based on the prices provided by the financial institutions.
   The fair value of long-term loans is based on the present value of the total of principal and interest discounted by the interest rate to be 

applied if incremental borrowings were entered into.
   Regarding derivatives, refer to Note 17.

   The carrying value of other securities without determinable market value at December 31, 2015 and 2014 is presented as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2015 2014 2015

Unlisted equity securities ........................................................................................................... ¥170 ¥170 $1,417

(c) Redemption schedule for monetary claims and investments by maturity date

 The redemption schedule for monetary claims and investments by maturity date at December 31, 2015 is as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

2015

Due in one 
year or 

less

Due after 
one year 
through 
five years

Due after 
five years 
through 
ten years

Due after 
ten years

Due in one 
year or 

less

Due after 
one year 
through 
five years

Due after 
five years 
through 
ten years

Due after 
ten years

Cash and deposits ................................ ¥ 52,398  ¥ –  ¥ –  ¥ –  $ 436,650 $–  $ – $–
Notes and accounts receivable-trade .... 75,372 – – – 628,100 – – –
Debt securities:Corporate bonds .......... – – 90 – – – 750 –

 ¥ 127,770  ¥ –  ¥ 90  ¥ –  $ 1,064,750 $–  $ 750 $–

(d) Payment schedule for short-term bank loans and long-term debt

 The payment schedule for short-term bank loans and long-term debt by payment due date at December 31, 2015 is as follows:

Millions of yen

2015

Due in one 
year or less

Due after one 
year through 

two years

Due after two 
years through 

three years

Due after 
three years 

through four 
years

Due after four 
years through 

five years
Due after five 

years

Short-term bank loans and current portion of 
long-term loans ............................................ ¥10,280  ¥ –  ¥ –  ¥ –  ¥ –  ¥ –

Bonds ............................................................. 11,000 5,000 – – – –

Bonds with stock acquisition rights ................. – – – 30,000 – –

Long-term loans .............................................. – 1,550 4,000 – – –

Lease obligations ............................................ 708 603 475 381 308 4,087
Total ............................................................... ¥21,988  ¥ 7,153  ¥ 4,475  ¥ 30,381  ¥ 308  ¥ 4,087

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2015

Due in one 
year or less

Due after one 
year through 

two years

Due after two 
years through 

three years

Due after 
three years 

through four 
years

Due after four 
years through 

five years
Due after five 

years

Short-term bank loans and current portion of 
long-term loans ............................................  $ 85,667  $ –  $ –  $ –  $ –  $ –

Bonds ............................................................. 91,666 41,667 – – – –

Bonds with stock acquisition rights ................. – – – 250,000 – –

Long-term loans .............................................. – 12,916 33,334 – – –

Lease obligations ............................................ 5,900 5,025 3,958 3,175 2,567 34,058
Total ...............................................................  $ 183,233  $ 58,608  $ 37,292  $ 253,175  $ 2,567  $ 34,058

The outstanding currency-related derivatives positions not designated as hedging instruments at December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

2015

Classification Transaction

Contract 
value 

(notional 
principal 
amount)

Portion in 
excess of 
1 year in 
contract 

value
Estimated 
fair value

Unrealized  
gain

Contract 
value 

(notional 
principal 
amount)

Portion in 
excess of 
1 year in 
contract 

value
Estimated 
fair value

Unrealized  
gain

Over-the-counter 
transactions

Forward foreign 
exchange contracts:

Selling
USD ¥12,081 ¥–  ¥ 69  ¥ 69 $100,675 $–  $ 575  $ 575

Buying
USD 177 – 1 1 1,475 – 8 8

Non-deliverable 
forwards:

Selling
BRL 12,054 – 262 262 100,450 – 2,184 2,184

Total ¥24,312 ¥–  ¥ 332  ¥ 332 $202,600 $–  $ 2,767  $ 2,767

Millions of yen

2014

Classification Transaction

Contract 
value 

(notional 
principal 
amount)

Portion in 
excess of 
1 year in 
contract 

value
Estimated 
fair value

Unrealized  
gain

Over-the-counter 
transactions

Forward foreign 
exchange contracts:

Buying
USD ¥22 ¥– ¥3 ¥3
RMB 22 – 2 2

Total ¥44 ¥– ¥5 ¥5

 Fair value is based on the prices obtained from counterparty financial institutions.

 There are no outstanding interest-related derivative positions not designated as hedging instruments at December 31, 2015 and 2014.

 The outstanding currency-related derivatives positions designated as hedging instruments at December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars
2015

Classification Transaction

 
 

Hedged item 

Contract 
value 

(notional 
principal 
amount)

Portion in 
excess of 1 

year in 
contract 

value
 Estimated 

fair value

 Contract 
value 

(notional 
principal 
amount)

Portion in 
excess of 1 

year in 
contract 

value
 Estimated 

fair value

  Deferral hedge 
accounting Forward foreign exchange contracts:

Selling

USD Accounts receivable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction)  ¥ 181  ¥ –  ¥ 4  $ 1,508  $ –  $ 33

EUR Accounts receivable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction) 1,872 – 22 15,600 – 183

GBP Accounts receivable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction) 16,080 8,730 (702) 134,000 72,750 (5,850)

JPY Accounts receivable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction) 92 – 1 767 – 8

NOK Accounts receivable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction) 419 – 28 3,492 – 234

DKK Accounts receivable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction) 289 – 5 2,408 – 42

Buying

USD Accounts payable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction) 191,800 103,279 20,162 1,598,333 860,658 168,017

 Subtotal  210,733 112,009 19,520 1,756,108 933,408 162,667
Allocation 
method for 
forward foreign 
exchange 
contracts

Forward foreign exchange contracts:
Selling

USD Accounts receivable-trade 185 – – 1,542 – –
Buying

USD Accounts payable-trade 1,210 – – 10,083 – –
Total  ¥ 212,128  ¥ 112,009  ¥ 19,520  $ 1,767,733  $ 933,408  $ 162,667

Derivatives and Hedging Activities17
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Millions of yen
2014

Classification Transaction Hedged item

Contract 
value 

(notional 
principal 
amount)

Portion in 
excess of 1 

year in 
contract 

value
Estimated 
fair value

Deferral hedge 
accounting Currency options:

Selling

USD Accounts payable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction)  ¥ 1,926  ¥ 825  ¥ 122

EUR Accounts receivable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction) 204 – 0

GBP Accounts receivable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction) 124 – –

Buying

USD Accounts payable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction) 1,926 825 188

EUR Accounts receivable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction) 273 – (17)

GBP Accounts receivable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction) 128 – (21)

Forward foreign exchange contracts:

Selling

USD Accounts receivable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction) 13 – (0)

EUR Accounts receivable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction) 2,571 – (121)

GBP Accounts receivable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction) 11,677 4,864 (938)

JPY Accounts receivable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction) 502 – 1

NOK Accounts receivable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction) 940 – 44

DKK Accounts receivable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction) 691 – (19)

Buying

USD Accounts payable-trade 
(Forecasted transaction) 175,352 86,486 21,732

Subtotal 196,327 93,000 20,971

Allocation 
method for 
forward foreign 
exchange 
contracts

Forward foreign exchange contracts:
Selling

USD Accounts receivable-trade 119 – –
Buying

USD Accounts payable-trade 875 – –
Total  ¥ 197,321  ¥ 93,000  ¥ 20,971

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts that qualify for the allocation method is included in accounts receivable-trade and 

accounts payable-trade.  Fair value is based on the prices obtained from counterparty financial institutions.

The outstanding interest-related derivatives positions designated as hedging instruments at December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

2015

Method of hedge 
accounting Transaction and major hedged items

Contract 
value 

(notional 
principal 
amount)

Portion in 
excess of 1 

year in 
contract 

value
Estimated 
fair value

Contract 
value 

(notional 
principal 
amount)

Portion in 
excess of 1 

year in 
contract 

value
Estimated 
fair value

Swap rates applied 
to underlying debt

 Interest-rate swaps:

¥2,400 ¥2,400 ¥– $20,000 $20,000 $–
Pay fixed / Receive 
floating Long-term loans 

Millions of yen

2014

Method of hedge 
accounting Transaction and major hedged items

Contract 
value 

(notional 
principal 
amount)

Portion in 
excess of 1 

year in 
contract 

value
Estimated 
fair value

Swap rates applied 
to underlying debt

Interest-rate swaps:

¥2,400 ¥2,400 ¥–
Pay fixed / Receive 
floating Long-term loans

The fair value of interest-rate swaps that qualify for special treatment is included in long-term loans.

The following table presents the changes in the components of other comprehensive income (loss) for the twelve months ended December 31, 

2015 and the nine months ended December 31, 2014:

Millions of yen Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Nine months 
ended 

December 
31, 2014

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Net unrealized holding gain on securities:
Unrealized holding gain arising during the period ................................................................. ¥ 1,675 ¥  1,411  $ 13,958
Net gain reclassified into income ........................................................................................... (23) (172) (192)
Subtotal  ............................................................................................................................... 1,652 1,239 13,766
Less: tax effect ...................................................................................................................... (433) (422) (3,608)

Net unrealized holding gain on securities  ................................................................................. 1,219 817 10,158

Unrealized deferred (loss) gain on hedges:
Unrealized deferred (loss) gain arising during the period ........................................................ (1,751) 22,403 (14,592)
Net loss reclassified into income ............................................................................................ 779 685 6,492
Subtotal  ............................................................................................................................... (972) 23,088 (8,100)
Less: tax effect ....................................................................................................................... 825 (6,370) 6,875

Unrealized deferred (loss) gain on hedges  ................................................................................ (147) 16,718 (1,225)

Revaluation reserve for assets of foreign subsidiaries ................................................................. (37) (65) (308)

Translation adjustments:
Unrealized deferred (loss) gain arising during the period ....................................................... (9,347) 5,560 (77,891)
Net gain reclassified into income............................................................................................ (25) – (208)
Subtotal  ............................................................................................................................... (9,372) 5,560 (78,099)
Less: tax effect ....................................................................................................................... – – –

Translation adjustments ............................................................................................................ (9,372) 5,560 (78,099)

Retirement benefits liability adjustments:
Retirement benefits liability adjustments arising during the period ......................................... (361) 237 (3,008)
Net loss reclassified into income ............................................................................................ 100 183 833
Subtotal ................................................................................................................................ (261) 420 (2,175)
Less: tax effect ...................................................................................................................... 94 (135) 783

Retirement benefits liability adjustments ................................................................................... (167) 285 (1,392)

Total other comprehensive (loss) income, net ............................................................................ ¥ (8,504) ¥23,315  $ (70,866)

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)18

Information on significant non-cash transactions 

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries recorded leased assets of ¥2,503 million ($20,858 thousand) and ¥839 million and lease 

obligations of ¥2,557 million ($21,308 thousand) and ¥876 million under finance leases for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and 

the nine months ended December 31, 2014, respectively.

Assets corresponding to asset retirement obligations recorded for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and the nine months ended 

December 31, 2014 were ¥210 million ($1,750 thousand) and ¥77 million, respectively.  Liabilities corresponding to asset retirement obligations 

recorded for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and the nine months ended December 31, 2014 were ¥226 million ($1,883 

thousand) and ¥88 million, respectively.

Supplementary Information on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 19
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information for the nine months ended December 31, 2014 to conform to revised segmentation outlined above.

2. Calculation method used for sales, gain or loss, assets, liabilities, and other items on each reportable segment

  Accounting policies of the reportable business segments are the same as those noted in the “Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting 

Policies.”

   The amount of income on reportable segments is based on operating income.  Intersegment sales and transfers between segments are 

based on market price.

3. Information on net sales, income or loss, assets, and other items by reportable segment

  Reportable segment information for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and the nine months ended December 31, 2014 is as 

follows:

Millions of yen

Twelve months ended December 31, 2015

 Japan  America  Europe 

Oceania /
Southeast 
and South 
Asia Area  East Asia

 Other 
business  Total Adjustments  Consolidated

Net sales:
Sales to customers  ............  ¥ 100,646  ¥ 136,104  ¥ 116,017  ¥ 22,451  ¥ 41,881  ¥ 11,170  ¥ 428,269  ¥ 227  ¥ 428,496
Intersegment .................... 22,139 0 6 21 65 6 22,237 (22,237) –
Total sales .........................  ¥ 122,785  ¥ 136,104  ¥ 116,023  ¥ 22,472  ¥ 41,946  ¥ 11,176  ¥ 450,506  ¥ (22,010)  ¥ 428,496

Segment income (loss) .......... ¥2,291  ¥ 1,500  ¥ 10,939  ¥ 3,572  ¥ 4,643  ¥ (666)  ¥ 22,279  ¥ 5,170  ¥ 27,449
Segment assets .....................  ¥ 75,999  ¥ 80,617  ¥ 93,318  ¥ 17,119  ¥ 19,771  ¥ 17,791  ¥ 304,615  ¥ 38,853  ¥ 343,468
Other items

Depreciation and 
amortization ...................  ¥ 1,305  ¥ 1,713  ¥ 2,124  ¥ 381  ¥ 235  ¥ 620  ¥ 6,378  ¥ 1,441  ¥ 7,819

Increases in property, plant 
and equipment and 
intangible  assets ............ 825 2,551 2,479 428 390 149 6,822 3,757 10,579

Millions of yen

Nine months ended December 31, 2014

Japan America Europe

Oceania /
Southeast 
and South 
Asia Area East Asia

Other 
business Total Adjustments Consolidated

Net sales:
Sales to customers ..........  ¥ 68,307  ¥ 118,879  ¥ 104,785  ¥ 18,507  ¥ 31,492  ¥ 11,812  ¥ 353,782  ¥ 270  ¥ 354,052

Intersegment ................... 14,268 1 7 90 3 9 14,378 (14,378) –

Total sales .......................  ¥ 82,575  ¥ 118,880  ¥ 104,792  ¥ 18,597  ¥ 31,495  ¥ 11,821  ¥ 368,160  ¥ (14,108)  ¥ 354,052

Segment income (loss) .......  ¥ (715)  ¥ 10,936  ¥ 8,653  ¥ 3,219  ¥ 2,328  ¥ (822)  ¥ 23,599  ¥ 6,868  ¥ 30,467

Segment assets ...................  ¥ 88,941  ¥ 87,674  ¥ 87,479  ¥ 16,914  ¥ 15,908  ¥ 20,890  ¥ 317,806  ¥ 38,031  ¥ 355,837

Other items
Depreciation and 
amortization..................  ¥ 1,085  ¥ 1,355  ¥ 1,788  ¥ 289  ¥ 179  ¥ 664  ¥ 5,360  ¥ 928  ¥ 6,288

Increases in property, 
plant and equipment 
and intangible  assets ... 273 2,950 2,464 506 204 103 6,500 2,770 9,270

Amounts per share at December 31, 2015 and 2014 and for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and the nine months ended 

December 31, 2014 are as follows:

Yen U.S. dollars

2015 2014 2015

Net assets ............................................................................................................................. ¥1,045.02 ¥1,058.94 $8.71
Net income:

Basic ................................................................................................................................. 53.93 117.40 0.45
Diluted .............................................................................................................................. 50.88 110.91 0.42

Cash dividends applicable to the period ................................................................................ 23.50 23.50 0.20

The amounts per share of net assets have been computed based on the number of shares of common stock outstanding at the period end.  

Basic net income per share has been computed based on the net income available for distribution to shareholders of common stock and the 

weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and the nine months 

ended December 31, 2014, respectively.  Diluted net income per share is computed based on the net income available for distribution to 

shareholders and the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during each the twelve months ended December 31, 

2015 and the nine months ended December 31, 2014 after giving effect to the dilutive potential of shares of common stock to be issued upon 

the exercise of stock options and bonds with stock acquisition rights.

Cash dividends per share represent the cash dividends proposed by the Board of Directors as applicable to the respective fiscal period.

The financial data used in the computation of basic net income per share and diluted net income per share for the twelve months ended 

December 31, 2015 and the nine months ended December 31, 2014 in the table above is summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Nine months 
ended 

December 
31, 2014

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Information used in computation of basic net income per share:
Net income .......................................................................................................................  ¥ 10,238  ¥ 22,286  $ 85,317
Adjustments to net income ...............................................................................................   (19)   (14)   (158)

Thousands of shares

Twelve months 
ended 

December 
31, 2015

Nine months 
ended 

December 
31, 2014

Weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding ..................................... 189,820 189,823
Increase in common stock ..................................................................................................... 11,002 10,979
Increase attributable to:

Bonds with stock acquisition rights ................................................................................... 10,949 10,949
Stock acquisition rights ..................................................................................................... 52 30

Amounts per Share20

1. Outline of reportable segments

  Reportable segments of the Group are components for which discrete financial information is available and whose operating results are 

regularly reviewed by the Executive Meeting of the Company to make decisions on the allocation of management resources and assess 

performance.

   The Company is mainly engaged in business management activities and research and development as the global headquarters.

   The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacture and sales of sporting goods.  ASICS Japan Corporation, ASICS Sales Corporation 

and other subsidiaries in Japan are responsible for Japan.  ASICS America Corporation is responsible for America.  ASICS Europe B.V. is 

responsible for Europe, Middle East and Africa.  ASICS Oceania Pty., Ltd. is responsible for Oceania, South-East Asia, and South Asia.  

Other local subsidiaries are responsible for relevant areas of East Asia.  Local legal entities are independent management units and they 

set overall management strategy for their businesses and conduct separate business activities.

   The “Japan,” the “America,” the “Europe,” the “Oceania/Southeast and South Asia Area” and the “East Asia” segments primarily 

manufacture and sell sporting goods and the “Other business” segment manufactures and sells outdoor products under the “HAGLOFS” 

brand.  

   On January 1, 2015, ASICS India PRIVATE LIMITED changed its business form from a marketing company to a sales company.  As a 

result of this change, the operating results of ASICS India PRIVATE LIMITED, which were previously included in adjustments, have been 

reclassified to the “Oceania/SouthEast and South Asia area” segment.  The Company has restated its previously reported segment 

Segment Information21
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Loss on impairment of property, plant and equipment by reportable segment for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and the nine 

months ended December 31, 2014 is summarized as follows:

Millions of yen

Twelve months ended December 31, 2015

Japan America Europe

Oceania /
Southeast 
and South 
Asia Area East Asia

Other 
business Total Adjustments Consolidated

Loss on impairment of property, 
plant and equipment ...................... ¥11 ¥– ¥84 ¥– ¥– ¥– ¥95 ¥58 ¥153

Millions of yen

Nine months ended December 31, 2014

Japan America Europe

Oceania /
Southeast 
and South 
Asia Area East Asia

Other 
business Total Adjustments Consolidated

Loss on impairment of property, 
plant and equipment ...................... ¥88 ¥– ¥– ¥– ¥– ¥– ¥88 ¥84 ¥172

Thousands of U.S. dollars

Twelve months ended December 31, 2015

Japan America Europe 

Oceania /
Southeast 
and South 
Asia Area East Asia

 Other 
business  Total  Adjustments Consolidated

Loss on impairment of property, 
plant and equipment ...................... $92 $– $700 $– $– $– $792 $483 $1,275

Amortization of goodwill for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and the nine months ended December 31, 2014 and the 

remaining balance of goodwill as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 by reportable segment are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen

Twelve months ended December 31, 2015

Japan America Europe 

Oceania /
Southeast 
and South 
Asia Area East Asia 

Other 
business  Total  Adjustments Consolidated  

Amortization ................................... ¥193 ¥211 ¥– ¥0 ¥– ¥   247 ¥   651 ¥– ¥651
Remaining balance .......................... 583 48 – – – 3,587 4,218 – 4,218

Millions of yen

Nine months ended December 31, 2014

Japan America  Europe

 Oceania /
Southeast 
and South 
Asia Area East Asia

 Other 
business  Total Adjustments  Consolidated  

Amortization ................................... ¥145 ¥214 ¥134 ¥– ¥236 ¥   264 ¥   993 ¥– ¥992
Remaining balance .......................... 776 288 – – – 4,102 5,166 – 5,166

Thousands of U.S. dollars

Twelve months ended December 31, 2015

 Japan America  Europe 

Oceania /
Southeast 
and South 
Asia Area East Asia

 Other 
business  Total  Adjustments Consolidated

Amortization ................................... $1,608 $1,758 $– $0 $– $  2,059 $  5,425 $– $  5,425
Remaining balance  .......................... 4,858  400  –  –  –  29,892  35,150  –  35,150

Information on gain on negative goodwill has been omitted as these are no applicable items to be disclosed for the twelve months ended 

December 31, 2015 and due to its immateriality for the nine months ended December 31, 2014.

Thousands of U.S. dollars

Twelve months ended December 31, 2015

Japan America Europe

Oceania /
Southeast 
and South 
Asia Area East Asia

Other 
business Total Adjustments Consolidated

Net sales:
Sales to customers ............  $ 838,717  $ 1,134,200  $ 966,808  $ 187,092  $ 349,008  $ 93,083  $ 3,568,908  $ 1,892  $ 3,570,800
Intersegment .................... 184,492 0 50 175 542 50 185,309 (185,309) –
Total sales .........................  $ 1,023,209  $ 1,134,200  $ 966,858  $ 187,267  $ 349,550  $ 93,133  $ 3,754,217  $ (183,417)  $ 3,570,800

Segment income (loss) ..........  $ 19,092  $ 12,500  $ 91,158  $ 29,767  $ 38,691  $ (5,550)  $ 185,658  $ 43,084  $ 228,742
Segment assets .....................  $ 633,325  $ 671,808  $ 777,650  $ 142,658  $ 164,758  $ 148,259  $ 2,538,458  $ 323,775  $ 2,862,233
Other items

Depreciation and 
amortization ...................  $ 10,875  $ 14,275  $ 17,700  $ 3,175  $ 1,958  $ 5,167  $ 53,150  $ 12,008  $ 65,158

Increases in property, plant 
and equipment and 
intangible  assets ............ 6,875 21,258 20,658 3,567 3,250 1,242 56,850 31,308 88,158

(Notes) 1. (1)  Adjustments on segment sales consist of eliminations of intersegment transactions and sales, which are not included in the reportable 
segments.

   (2)  Adjustments on segment income or loss consist of eliminations of intersegment transactions and income or loss, which are not included in 
the reportable segments.

   (3) Adjustments on segment assets are eliminations of intersegment balances.
  2. Segment income or loss is reconciled primarily to operating income on the consolidated statement of income.

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries are primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale of sporting goods in Japan and overseas.  

As most of the consolidated net sales were related to sports and leisure-related products, the disclosure of business segment information has 

been omitted.

Net sales by geographical segment for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and the nine months ended December 31, 2014 are 

summarized as follows:

Millions of yen

Twelve months ended December 31, 2015

Japan America Europe East Asia Other Total

Netsales .................................................................. ¥101,226 ¥136,245 ¥119,312 ¥43,000 ¥28,713 ¥428,496

Millions of yen

Nine months ended December 31, 2014

Japan America Europe East Asia Other Total

Netsales .................................................................. ¥68,991 ¥119,017 ¥110,932 ¥32,515 ¥22,597 ¥354,052

Thousands of U.S. dollars

Twelve months ended December 31, 2015

Japan America Europe East Asia Other Total

Netsales .................................................................. $843,550 $1,135,375 $994,267 $358,333 $239,275 $3,570,800

(Note) Net sales are based on customer locations and classified by country and territory.

Property, plant and equipment by geographical segment as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen

2015

Japan America Europe Other Total

Property,plantandequipment .......................................................... ¥21,020 ¥10,578 ¥5,656 ¥1,935 ¥39,189

Millions of yen

2014

Japan America Europe Other Total

Property,plantandequipment .......................................................... ¥25,697 ¥8,802 ¥5,611 ¥1,999 ¥42,109

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2015

Japan America Europe Other Total

Property,plantandequipment .......................................................... $175,167 $88,150 $47,133 $16,125 $326,575

As there are no customers accounting for 10% or more of consolidated net sales, the disclosure of information on major customers has 

been omitted.
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 (e)  Number of shares to be purchased, purchase price and ownership ratio after the acquisition

   The Company’s shareholding  0 shares

    before the acquisition: (ownership ratio: 0%)

   Number of shares to be purchased: 4,453,471 common shares 

      (acquired from existing shareholders)

      5,863,830 preferred shares 

      (acquired from existing shareholders)

   Purchase price: Approx. $85 million 

      (approx. ¥10.2 billion)

   The Company’s shareholding  4,453,471 common shares 

    after the acquisition: (acquired from existing shareholders)

      5,863,830 preferred shares 

      (acquired from existing shareholders)

      (ownership ratio: 100%)

 (f)  Funding method for acquisition

   The Company acquired the shares using its own capital.

(1) Cash dividends

  The following distribution of retained earnings of the Company, which has not been reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, was approved at a meeting of the shareholders of the Company held on 

March 25, 2016:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

Cash dividends (¥23.50 = US$0.20 per share) .......................................................................................... ¥4,461 $37,175

(2) Acquisition through purchase of shares

  The Company decided to enter into an agreement to acquire 100% of the shares in FitnessKeeper, Inc. (hereafter “FitnessKeeper”), 

following the resolution by the Board of Directors at its meeting held on February 12, 2016.  On March 3, 2016, FitnessKeeper became 

the Company’s subsidiary. 

 (a)  Reason for the acquisition

    Established in 2008, FitnessKeeper is the operator of fitness tracking application, “Runkeeper”, an application that can track and 

record fitness activities such as running, walking and cycling through GPS on smartphone devices. “Runkeeper” is a world-class 

leader in the fitness tracking application category and has over 33 million registered users in the U.S. and worldwide.  It provides 

users with notifications of running distance and pace during exercise, as well as functions to record, manage and analyze activities, 

which help users visualize and achieve their fitness goals, and ultimately make sports more fun for them.

     The fitness tracking application market is expected to expand with the increased health-awareness from consumers, growth of the 

smartphone market worldwide and advancement of wearable technologies.  The Company reached a decision on this acquisition as 

the Company believes that the integration of “Runkeeper,” with its globally recognized brand and worldwide user base, and the 

Company’s technological competence in manufacturing will lead to continued enhancement of the Company’s corporate value.  

Through this acquisition the Company will be able to establish a one-to-one marketing channel utilizing user data including fitness 

information and obtain a digital technology development platform that is led by a management team with extensive experiences in 

this field.

     With the Founding Philosophy to contribute to the healthy growth of young people through sport, the Group has upheld its 

philosophy to “provide valuable products and services through sport to all our customers”; and kept its passion for technology and 

craftsmanship and pursued customers’ needs in order to serve athletes, sports lovers, and people who deeply care about good 

health worldwide.  

     With the addition of FitnessKeeper into the Group, the Company expects to further support customers’ fun and healthy 

experiences and lifestyle through sports by providing new contents and cutting-edge services utilizing advanced digital technology.  

The Company aims to fully utilize the resources of both the Company and FitnessKeeper to provide high value added products, 

services and content to even more customers.

 (b) Names of counterparties of the share purchase

   Jason Jacobs, OATV II, LP., Spark Capital III, L.P. and Revolution Ventures II, LP

 (c)  Outline of the company to be acquired

     Corporate name: FitnessKeeper, Inc.

     Address: 60 Canal Street Boston, MA 02114, USA

     Representative: Jason Jacobs (CEO)

     Business: Operation of fitness tracking application

     Capital: $14,515 thousand 

      (Fiscal year ended December 31, 2014)

     Year Established: June 2008

 (d) Date of share purchase 

   March 3, 2016
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Directors

ASICS Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of ASICS Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries, which comprise the 

consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2015, and the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in net assets, and 

cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, all expressed in Japanese yen.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting 

principles generally accepted in Japan, and for designing and operating such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 

auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The 

procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. The purpose of an audit of the consolidated financial statements is not to express an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control, but in making these risk assessments the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. 

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 

management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 

ASICS Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries as at December 31, 2015, and their consolidated financial performance and cash flows for the year 

then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan.

Convenience Translation

We have reviewed the translation of these consolidated financial statements into U.S. dollars, presented for the convenience of readers, and, in our 

opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements have been properly translated on the basis described in Note 1.

March 25, 2016

Osaka, Japan

Common 
Stock:

Authorized ......790,000,000 shares
Issued ............199,962,991 shares
(including treasury stock of 10,143,572 shares)

Number of 
Shareholders:

21,974

Shareholder Information

Principal Shareholders:

Name Shareholdings
(Thousands)

Ownership*
(%)

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd.
(Trust Account) 8,102 4.05

The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd. 7,858 3.93

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. 
(Trust Account) 7,470 3.74

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation 6,607 3.30

Nippon Life Insurance Company 5,679 2.84

Mizuho Bank, Ltd. 5,568 2.78

State Street Bank and Trust Company 
505001 5,129 2.57

BNP Paribas SEC Services Luxembourg/
JASDEC/Aberdeen Global Client Assets 3,471 1.74

The Minato Bank, Ltd. 3,358 1.68

State Street Bank West Client-Treaty 
505234 2,464 1.23

*Ownership ratios were calculated by deducting shares of treasury stock.

Corporate Name: ASICS Corporation

Founded: September 1, 1949

Paid-in Capital: ¥23,972 million

Principal Business: Manufacture and sales of sports goods

Head Office: 1-1, Minatojima-Nakamachi 7-chome, Chuo-ku, 
Kobe 650-8555, Japan
Tel: +81-78-303-2231

Institute: ASICS Institute of Sport Science
2-1, Takatsukadai 6-chome,  
Nishi-ku, Kobe 651-2271, Japan
Tel: +81-78-992-0810

Number of Employees: 7,263 (consolidated basis)

Corporate Data

Major Consolidated Subsidiaries

• ASICS Japan Corporation
• ASICS Trading Co., Ltd.
• ASICS America Corporation
• ASICS BRASIL LTDA
• ASICS Europe B.V.

• ASICS Oceania PTY. LTD.
• ASICS Asia PTE. LTD.
• ASICS China Trading Co., Ltd.
• ASICS Korea Corporation
• HAGLÖFS AB

President and CEO, Representative Director: Motoi Oyama

Director and Managing Executive Officer: Katsumi Kato

Isao Kato

Director and Executive Officer: Manabu Nishimae

External Director: Katsuro Tanaka

Kenji Kajiwara

Takeshi Hanai

Hitoshi Kashiwaki

Senior Executive Officer: Toshio Obata

Executive Officer: Tsuyoshi Nishiwaki

Yuichi Honma

Megumi Ohta

Yuji Mabuchi

Yoshihiro Ueda

Koji Kajiwara

Alistair Cameron

Ronald Pietersen

Gene McCarthy

Audit & Supervisory Board Member: Tadashi Inoue

Keiji Miyakawa

Audit & Supervisory Board Member (external): Hideaki Mihara

Yuko Mitsuya

Executives

(As of April 1, 2016)

Number of Shareholders

Individuals and Others
11.77%

Non-Japanese 
Companies
42.84%

Other Companies
7.49%

Securities Companies
0.90%

Financial Institutions
37.01%

Breakdown of Shareholders:

(As of December 31, 2015)

Corporate Information
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ASICS Corporation

HEAD OFFICE

1-1, Minatojima-Nakamachi 7-chome,
Chuo-ku, Kobe 650-8555, Japan

h t t p : / / c o r p . a s i c s . c o m / e n /




